
Corporate, Customer and Community Services 
Directorate

Legal and Democratic Services  Cumbria House  Botchergate  Carlisle
Cumbria  CA1 1RD  Tel 01228 606060  Email 

democratic.services@cumbria.gov.uk

To:  The Chair and Members of the Scrutiny 
Management Board

Agenda
SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD – CALL IN MEETING

A meeting of the Scrutiny Management Board will be held as follows: 

Date: Tuesday, 22 January 2019
Time: 3.00 pm
Place: Conference Room A, Cumbria House, Carlisle

NB A PRE-MEETING OF THE BOARD WILL BE HELD AT 2.30 PM IN THE 
CHAIRMAN’S ROOM TO WHICH ALL MEMBERS ARE ENCOURAGED TO 
ATTEND

Dawn Roberts
Executive Director –Corporate, Customer and Community Services

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Jackie Currie
Direct Line: 01228 221030
Email: jackie.currie@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the People of Cumbria

mailto:jackie.currie@cumbria.gov.uk


MEMBERSHIP

Conservative Members (6)

Mr J Airey
Mr J Lister
Mr J Mallinson
Mr B Shirley
Mrs V Tarbitt
Mr WJ Wearing (Chairman)

Labour Members (5)

Ms C Driver
Mr KR Hamilton
Mr M Hawkins
Mr M Wilson (Vice-Chair)
Mr J Bell

Liberal Democrat Members (3)

Mr SB Collins
Mrs S Evans
Mr C Hogg

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Agenda and Reports

Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting.

The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website – 
www.cumbria.gov.uk 

Background Papers

Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday.

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/


A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence  

2  MEMBERSHIP

To report any changes to the membership of the Board  

3  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority 

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b)  Which has not been fully discharged. 

4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.  

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.  

6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest.

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where



(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).   

4  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda.  

5  CALL-IN ITEMS

To consider a valid call in of a decision of Cabinet on 20 December 2019 – 2020-2021 
School Admissions Arrangements.

The grounds for call in were clarified at a meeting between the call in members, the 
Chair and Vice Chair of Scrutiny Management Board, the Cabinet Member for Schools 
and Learning and the Assistant Director – Education and Skills on 10 January 2019.

The Scrutiny Management Board will consider the call in grounds as set out in the letter 
dated 3 January 2019 signed by Mr P Turner (Lead call in member),  Mr K Hitchen and 
Mr D Wilson.

The following documents are appended to this agenda:-

5 (a) Cabinet Report 20 December 2018 – 2020-2021 School Admissions 
Arrangements 
5 (b) Published draft minutes of Cabinet on 20 December 2018 
5 (c) The call in letter dated 3 January 2019 signed by Mr P Turner (Lead call in 

member),  Mr K Hitchen and Mr D Wilson  
5 (d) Supplementary information on catchment from Mr P Turner
5 (e) Call in meeting format     

a  Cabinet Report - School Admissions 2020-21 



Cabinet Report – School Admissions 2020-21 (copy enclosed)
  (Pages 7 - 66)

b  Cabinet Minutes 20 December 2018 

Cabinet Minutes 20 December 2019 (copy enclosed)
  (Pages 67 - 86)

c  Call -in letter from Mr P Turner 

Call in letter (attached)
  (Pages 87 - 88)

d  Supplementary information re catchment areas 

Supplementary information from call  in member (copy enclosed)
  

e  Call in flowchart 

Call in flowchart (attached)
  (Pages 89 - 90)



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Cabinet
Date of meeting: 20 December 2018

Title of Report: 2020-2021 School Admissions Arrangements 

Report by: John Macilwraith, Executive Director – People (Deputy Chief 
Executive) 

Cabinet Member: Sue Sanderson, Cabinet Member – Schools and Learning

What is the Report About? (Executive Summary)

1. This paper sets out the proposed admission arrangements for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled schools, for which the county council is the statutory 
admission authority.  The Local Authority (LA) is required to consult other 
admission authorities on any changes to the policy, including catchment areas 
and proposed reductions to published admission numbers (PANs).  The LA must 
also consult the governing bodies of Community and Voluntary Controlled 
schools where it proposes to increase or retain the existing Published Admission 
Number (PAN) for 2020-21.  

2. On 27 September 2018, after considering the options set out in the published 
report and for the reasons set out in the report, Cabinet resolved that:

 the amended admissions policy for Community and Voluntary Controlled 
schools be approved to go out to consultation with the required groups as 
set out in the School Admissions Code 2014, paragraph 1.44.  This 
included consultation on proposals to reduce the Published Admission 
Number (PAN) for Kirkbampton CE School and Brook Street School; and 
proposed changes to the oversubscription criteria in relation to children 
previously in care outside England, children of staff at a school and faith 
based criteria;

 the proposed co-ordinated scheme for 2020-21 for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled schools be approved for consultation;

 the proposed definition of relevant areas for admission authorities in 
Cumbria for the period 2020-21 to 2022-23 be circulated for consultation 
with relevant schools;

 consultation be undertaken on an increase to the PAN at Thursby Primary 
School, and on the retention of the existing PANs at all other Community 
and Voluntary Controlled schools

 the publication of statutory notices related to changes to age range at the 
schools set out in paragraph 52 of the report be approved.

3. The report further seeks decisions on proposals published in October 2018 to 
change the age range at a number of schools in order to formally add or extend 
maintained nursery provision in the county. 

7

Agenda Item 5a



Recommendation of the Executive Director

4. Recommendation 1: Approve the admissions policy for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled schools at Appendix A including the reduction in the 
Published Admission Number (PAN) for Kirkbampton CE School and Brook 
Street School, and an increase in PAN at Thursby Primary School. 

Recommendation 2: Approve the co-ordinated admission scheme for 2020-21 
for Community and Voluntary Controlled schools, Appendix B.  

Recommendation 3: Approve the definition of relevant areas for admission 
authorities in Cumbria for the period 2020-21 to 2022-23, Appendix C.

Recommendation 4: Approve the nursery admissions policy for 2020-21 for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled nursery schools and infant/primary schools 
providing nursery education, Appendix D. 

Recommendation 5:  Approve changes to age range at the schools listed in 
paragraph 60.

Background to the Proposals

5. The School Admissions Code 2014 came into force on 19 December 2014 
replacing the School Admissions Code 2012. 

6. The county council retains the role of admissions authority for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled schools in the county, and must determine admission 
arrangements by 28 February 2019 for the 2020-21 academic year.

7. Admission arrangements for Community and Voluntary Controlled schools 
include catchment areas and the criteria that will be applied to applicants in the 
case of oversubscription.  

8. Voluntary Aided, Foundation, Free schools and Academies have responsibility for 
determining their own admission arrangements, including catchment areas and 
oversubscription criteria.   

9. The county council also retains responsibility for co-ordinating the main 
admissions round for all maintained schools and academies in the county.  It is 
required to formulate a co-ordinated scheme setting out the various stages in the 
admissions process by 1 January 2019 for the 2020-21 academic year.  

10. Where the co-ordinated scheme has not changed from the previous year there is 
no requirement to consult, subject to the requirement that the LA must consult on 
the scheme at least once every seven years, even if there have been no changes. 
 

11. The co-ordinated scheme was last consulted on during the spring term 2012.  
That consultation was in respect of the co-ordinated scheme that was applied to 
admissions for the 2013-14 academic year.  Since 2013-14 there have been no 
significant changes to the co-ordinated scheme and Members have approved the 
updated scheme annually without consultation.

8



12. As set out in the School Admissions Code 2014, the LA must consult on co-
ordinated scheme for 2020-21 during the autumn term 2018 as it is seven years 
since the scheme was lasted consulted upon.  Consultation on the co-ordinated 
scheme for 2020-21 took place for a 6 week period between 3 October 2018 and 
13 November 2018.  

13. Voluntary Aided, Foundation, Free schools and Academies are own admission 
authority schools.  The governing body or academy trust is responsible for the 
admissions policy and make any decisions about the allocation of places.  The 
Local Authority is not responsible for allocation decisions made by Voluntary 
Aided, Foundation, Free schools or Academies.  The parental information 
booklets for starting school and transfer to junior and secondary school make 
clear the distinction between own admission authority schools and those schools 
to which the Local Authority admissions policy applies.  

14. Where changes are proposed to admission arrangements (or at least every seven 
years where no changes have been proposed), including reductions in PANs (see 
paragraph 62), the county council is required to consult with:

a) Parents of children between the ages of two and eighteen;
b) Other persons in the relevant area which in the opinion of the admission 

authority have an interest in the proposed admissions;
c) All other admission authorities within the relevant area (except that primary 

schools need not consult secondary schools);
d) Whichever of the governing body and the local authority who are not the 

admission authority;
e) Any adjoining neighbouring local authorities where the admission authority 

is the local authority; and
f) In the case of faith schools, the body or person representing the religion or 

religious denomination. 

(School Admissions Code 2014: paragraph 1.44)

15. There is also a requirement to consult the governing bodies of individual schools 
on the PAN the county council proposes to use for their schools in September 
2020 where it is proposed to remain unchanged or to increase.

16. The consultation process must last for a minimum of 6 weeks and can begin no 
earlier than 1 October 2018.  Consultation relates to the proposed admission 
arrangements and the co-ordinated admission scheme.

The Consultation Process

17. The 6 week consultation opened on 3 October 2018 and closed on 13 November 
2018.  The LA consulted widely on all aspects of the proposed admission 
arrangements.  ‘Arrangements’ technically includes the PAN for every 
Community and Voluntary Controlled school, and the oversubscription criteria, 
which specifically include reference to catchment areas.  

9



18. Consulting widely included:

i) Publication of consultation documents on the county council consultation 
hub.

ii) A letter to the head teacher of all schools.  The letter drew attention to the 
consultation, the closing date for responses and included a link to the 
consultation hub.  It also highlighted the proposed changes to the 
oversubscription criteria and published admission numbers.  Schools were 
asked to publicise the consultation in any communication with parents, for 
example, via a periodic newsletter, and to share with governing bodies.   

iii) A separate communication to neighbouring local authorities, the CE and 
RC Diocese, teaching associations, Cumbria Association of Secondary 
Heads, Primary Heads Association and Cumbria Alliance of System 
Leaders.

iv) A briefing was prepared for issue to all local media in the area. 
v) The communications team publicised the consultation on the county 

council website and via appropriate social media. 
vi) Information about the process was provided to Area Managers at the 

beginning of the consultation period to enable Local Committees to 
respond if they wished.  

vii) The views of the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Advisory Board 
were sought.

19. The information highlighted the options for proposed changes to the 
oversubscription criteria, including changes to Published Admission Numbers for 
Brook Street Primary School, Kirkbampton CE School and Thursby Primary 
School.  A link to the county council consultation hub was also provided.

Children Previously Looked After outside England    

20. The School Admission Code 2014 states that all admission authorities must have 
oversubscription criteria for each ‘relevant age group’, and the highest priority 
must be given to looked after children and all previously looked after children.   

21. A child looked after is a child in public care who is looked after by a local authority 
within the meaning of Section 22 of the Children Act 1989.  Children previously 
looked after are children who were looked after, but have ceased to be so 
because they were adopted (under the terms of the Adoption and Children Act 
2002) or became subject to a Child Arrangements Order or Special Guardianship 
Order (Children Act 1989).

22. In December 2017 local authorities and admission authorities were notified that, 
when the opportunity arises, Government intends to make further changes to the 
School Admissions Code to ensure that children who were previously in care 
outside of England also receive the highest priority for admission into a school in 
England.

23. Any changes to the School Admissions Code will be subject to consultation and 
parliamentary approval, so are not therefore guaranteed. However, the 

10



Government has requested that admission authorities should consider giving 
these children the second highest priority in oversubscription criteria, when 
admission arrangements are next reviewed.  

24. Further advice intended to assist admission authorities to implement the 
additional criterion was issued by DfE on 6 August 2018.  This advice confirms 
that, until such a time that the School Admissions Code 2014 is amended to 
reflect the change, the Minister of State for School Standards wishes admission 
authorities to introduce oversubscription criteria to give children who were 
previously in care outside of England the second highest priority for admission to 
a school.  

25. It is therefore proposed that the county council admission arrangements for 2020-
21 should be amended to reflect government advice.  The proposed 
arrangements for 2020-21, including the additional oversubscription criteria in 
relation to children previously in care outside England, were subject to 
consultation with the required groups as set out in the School Admissions Code 
2014, paragraph 1.44.  Please refer to Appendix A, paragraph 14(2) and the 
proposed oversubscription criteria as well as to recommendation 1 of the report. 

26. Consultation Responses – The consultation closed on 13 November 2018.  One 
response was received from a parent who was supportive of the inclusion of an 
additional over subscription criteria in relation to children previously in care 
outside of England.  No other responses were received.  

Oversubscription Criteria – Children of Staff at a School

27. The School Admissions Code 2014 states that all admission authorities must set 
out in their arrangements the criteria against which places will be allocated at the 
school when there are more applications than places available. 

28. Oversubscription criteria must be reasonable, clear, objective, procedurally fair 
and comply with all relevant legislation.  Admissions authorities must ensure that 
their arrangements will not disadvantage unfairly, either directly or indirectly, a 
child from a particular social or racial group, or a child with a disability or special 
educational needs.   

29. The Code sets out the most common acceptable oversubscription criteria that 
admission authorities may consider suitable according to local circumstances.  
One of these relates to children of staff at the school.  

30. Admission authorities may give priority in their oversubscription criteria to children 
of staff in either or both of the following circumstances: 

a) Where the member of staff has been employed at the school for two or 
more years at the time at which the application for admission to the school 
is made, and/or  

b) The member of staff is recruited to fill a vacant post for which there is a 
demonstrable skill shortage.

31. The circumstances above were originally intended to assist secondary schools, in 
particular, in the recruitment and retention of teaching staff.  The oversubscription 

11



criteria that are currently applied when there are more applications than there are 
places available at a Community or Voluntary Controlled school make no 
provision for the children of staff at a school.  

32. In responding to the consultation on the proposed admission arrangements for 
2019-20 that took place between 3 October and 13 November 2017, concern was 
expressed that, unlike the own admission authority secondary schools, 
Community and Voluntary Controlled secondary schools are unable to give any 
priority to the children of staff employed in the school.  

33. Members should note that as the LA is the admissions authority for these schools, 
the schools themselves have no role in the prioritisation of applications for places. 
 This is wholly the responsibility of the LA.  

34. If an additional criterion was added to the oversubscription criteria for Community 
and Voluntary Controlled schools from 2020 onwards, it would apply to all schools 
where the LA is the admissions authority and not just to the secondary schools.

35. Of 28 own admission authority secondary schools, 16 have adopted this criterion. 
 Far fewer primary schools have adopted it, with only 17 of 112 including it in their 
admissions policy.  In allowing the prioritisation of the children of staff, the 
government had in mind teaching rather than other support staff, albeit that this 
is not defined in the Code.  Limited to teaching staff, the criterion could be seen 
by some as discriminatory, in that it favours the children of ‘professional staff’, 
regardless of where they live, over the children of cleaners and lunchtime 
assistants or, indeed, of more local children.  Even including all staff in the 
definition could be seen to discriminate against out-of-work parents, who may 
have a lower priority than others solely as a result of their unemployment.  The 
definition of such a factor would need to be very tight, and members should 
recognise that it may not be universally popular.

36. The addition of a, ‘children of staff’, criterion to the oversubscription criteria was 
included in the consultation on the proposed admission arrangements for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled schools for 2020-21 that took place 
between 3 October 2018 and 13 November 2018.  

37. Consultation Responses – The consultation closed on 13 November 2018; two 
responses were received.  Both were from parents who were supportive of the 
inclusion of a criterion to favour children of staff although one was with the 
provisio that the criterion was ranked below the criterion for children living within 
the catchment area of the school.  No responses were received from schools.
  

38. Members are therefore recommended not to include an additional, ‘children of 
staff’, criterion to the oversubscription criteria that will be applied to admissions 
to Community and Voluntary Controlled schools from 2020-21.  The 
oversubscription criteria are is set out in Appendix A to the report. 

Faith Based Oversubscription Criteria in Schools Designated with a 
Religious Character

12



39. At a meeting held on 12 June 2018, the Carlisle Diocese Board of Education 
resolved to consult CE schools on a proposal to include in its model policy and 
guidance to schools, the removal of faith based criteria.  The CE Diocese 
consultation took place between 27 June 2018 and 14 September 2018. 

40. The agreed recommendation was that, ‘Church of England schools in the Diocese 
should not include faith commitment as one of their criteria and that any such 
criteria be removed from school admission policies’.  

41. As the LA is the admission authority for Church of England Voluntary Controlled 
schools, the Carlisle Diocese Board of Education has requested that the LA also 
give consideration to the removal of the faith based criteria from the 
oversubscription criteria that is applied to Community and Voluntary Controlled 
schools.  

42. The oversubscription criteria that are currently applied when there are more 
applications than there are places available at a Community or Voluntary 
Controlled school include two faith based criteria:

Category 4 – In relation to Church of England Voluntary Controlled schools, 
children living within the catchment area who with a parent 
regularly attend a church in membership of Churches Together in 
Britain or the Evangelical Alliance.

Category 7 –  In relation to Church of England Voluntary Controlled schools, 
children living outside the catchment area who with a parent 
regularly attend a church in membership of Churches Together in 
Britain or the Evangelical Alliance.

(Regular is defined as at least twice a month.  Attendance may be at more than 
one church but should be for at least two years prior to the application date.)

43. In line with the request from the Carlisle Diocese Board of Education, the removal 
of the faith based criteria from the oversubscription criteria that are applied to 
Community and Voluntary schools was included in the consultation on the 
proposed admission arrangements for 2020-21 that took place between 3 
October 2018 and 13 November 2018. 

44. Responses to the LA Consultation – The consultation closed on 13 November 
2018.  Two responses were received, both from parents. One was supportive of 
the removal of the faith based criteria; the other felt that faith based criteria should 
remain in the oversubscription criteria but that it should have a lower priority than 
that of residence within the catchment area of a school. 

45. Responses to the CE Diocese Consultation – A total of 30 responses were 
received from CE Voluntary Aided and Voluntary Controlled schools.  Of the 30 
responses, 24 agreed that the faith based criteria should be removed, 5 
disagreed and 1 neither agreed or disagreed. 

46. RC Diocese – The School Admissions Code states that, in the case of faith 
schools, the LA should consult with the body or person representing the religion 
or religious denomination.  Information about the consultation was sent to the RC 
Diocese at the beginning of the consultation period.  That information set out 

13



details of all proposed changes and specifically referred to the removal of the faith 
based criteria from the oversubscription criteria.  The RC Diocese have not 
submitted a formal response to the consultation.   

47. Members are recommended to approve the admissions policy for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled schools at Appendix A which does not include the faith 
based criteria that are currently included at categories 4 and 7. 

Relevant Area

48. Admission authorities must determine arrangements annually.  Where changes 
to admission arrangements are proposed the admission authority must publically 
consult on those arrangements.  If no changes are made to admission 
arrangements they must be consulted on at least once every seven years.

49. Regulations require each Local Authority to define a ‘relevant area’ within which 
own admission authorities must consult on their proposed admission 
arrangements.

50. The relevant area is determined after consultation with local admission authorities 
and is reviewed periodically.  The determination remains in place until there is a 
subsequent determination.

51. Appendix C sets out the proposed relevant area for the period 2020-21 to 2022-
23; relevant schools were consulted for a 4 week period between 23 October 
2018 and 16 November 2018.  No responses were received.  

Nursery Admissions Policy 2019-20

52. There is no requirement to consult on nursery admissions in the same way as for 
school admissions.  

53. The nursery admissions policy for Community and Voluntary Controlled nursery 
schools and infant/primary schools providing nursery education is in line with the 
general admissions policy and was reviewed by Members in September 2016; 
the updated policy has been approved annually since then.  

54. Following the consultation on the general admissions policy for 2020-21, the 
nursery admissions policy for 2020-21 has been updated in line with the general 
admissions policy and is attached as Appendix D.

55. Members are recommended to adopt the updated nursery admissions policy for 
2020-21 for Community and Voluntary Controlled nursery schools and 
infant/primary schools providing nursery education.

Changes of Age Range – Addition of Nursery Provision

14



56. Following a national consultation and the publication of new guidance by DfE, a 
number of Community school governing bodies exercised new powers to formally 
add nursery provision, or to extend existing provision to cater for 2-year olds.  
This was an arrangement that provided maintained schools with the same ability 
as academies to change their age range.

57. Subsequently, however, DfE notified local authorities that their guidance was 
incorrect.  Although they had intended to provide all maintained schools with the 
power to change their age range, and whilst this change had been almost 
universally supported during consultation, an error in redrafting legislation meant 
that Community schools had been excluded from the new arrangements.  
(Voluntary Controlled, Voluntary Aided and Foundation schools were included, 
and are all now able to undertake an age-range change without reference to the 
Cabinet).

58. Cabinet approved in September 2018 the publication of change of age range 
proposals relating to 25 Community schools in order to formally add the nursery 
provision which the schools themselves thought they had introduced under the 
auspices of DfE’s spurious guidance.

59. The publication of notices in October 2018 triggered a statutory representation 
period, during which any interested party was able to write with comments on, or 
objections to the changes proposed.  No comments or objections have been 
received.  

60. The affected schools are as follows:

Allonby Primary School
Arlecdon Primary School
Ashfield Infant School
Bewcastle School
Bram Longstaffe Nursery School
Cleator Moor Nursery School
Croftlands Infant School
Ellenborough & Ewanrigg Infant School
Grasslot Infant School
Greystoke School
Hindpool Nursery School
Holme Community School
Inglewood Infant School
Kendal Nursery School
Kirkby Stephen Primary School
Long Marton Community Primary School
Maryport Infant School
Milburn School
Moresby Primary School
Netherton Infant School
Newlaithes Infant School
North Walney Primary School
Orgill Primary School 
Plumpton School
Thursby Primary School

15



61. It should be noted that there is no cost to the county council related to these 
proposals, and there will be no change in the provision already being made in the 
affected schools.  Rather this is an exercise to formalise arrangements that the 
schools, in good faith, believed they were themselves putting in place, in line with 
national guidance.

PAN Changes

62. It is proposed that the following schools change their PAN from September 2020:

School Current PAN Proposed PAN

Kirkbampton CE 
School

18 15

Thursby Primary 
School

15 20

Brook Street School 45 30

63. As the statutory admission authority for the schools listed above it is for the LA to 
determine whether or not to amend the PANs; there is no compulsion to do so. 

64. The head teacher and governing body of Kirkbampton CE School have formally 
requested that the PAN for the school is reduced from 18 to 15.  The reduction 
will allow the school, if required, to teach KS1 in mixed classes without breaching 
the infant class size legislation.  It will also mean that areas that were not originally 
designated as teaching spaces can revert to being used for the original purpose. 
 Finally, a reduction would also allow the school to plan budgets in future years 
with greater certainty. 

65. Thursby Primary School is to be extended through the addition of a new 
classroom in response to housing development in the village.  This will allow for 
an increase in the PAN from 15 to 20, and the work will be part-funded via Section 
106 contributions secured with the developer.  Project planning is underway, and 
the classroom is expected to be available from the start of the 2019-20 academic 
year.   

66. The governors at Brook Street School have sought a reduction in their PAN from 
45 to 30.  The county council invested capital funding at this school in 2012 to 
provide additional places in the area.  The September 2018 Reception intake was 
35, which does provide challenges in terms of class organisation in order to 
comply with infant class size legislation.  Recent years’ intakes have been 25 
(2017), 38 (2016), 33 (2015), 36 (2014) and 49 (2013).  Numbers generally in the 
area indicate that even with the PAN reduction sought, there are likely to be 
sufficient places available to meet overall demand for the foreseeable future.  It 
is likely, however, that reducing the PAN would result in an increased number of 
refusals and admission appeals.  

67. Consultation Responses – The consultation closed on 13 November 2018.  Two 
responses were received; 1 from a parent who was supportive of the proposed 

16



PAN changes and the other from Brook Street School in support of the request 
to reduce PAN.  No other responses were received. 

Other Consultation Responses

68. The School Admissions Code requires admission authorities to consult on 
admission arrangements when changes are proposed, or every seven years 
where no changes have been proposed.  The LA consulted with all groups as 
required by the Code; the consultation was publicised more widely than in 
previous years and the views of Local Committees and Children and Young 
People’s Scrutiny Advisory Board were sought.
 

69. Local Committees – Information about the consultation, setting out details of the 
proposed changes, was sent to the Area Managers at the beginning of the 
consultation period to enable Local Committees to respond if they wished.  Area 
Managers shared the information with local Members in Allerdale, Barrow, 
Carlisle, Copeland and Eden and there were no comments or considered 
amendments from these areas.  There were also no comments from Members in 
South Lakeland.    

Catchment Areas

70. Admission arrangements include the PAN for every Community and Voluntary 
Controlled school, and the oversubscription criteria, which specifically include 
reference to catchment areas. 

71. Voluntary Aided, Foundation, Free schools and Academies have responsibility for 
determining their own admission arrangements, including catchment areas and 
oversubscription criteria.   

72. A total of 38 responses to the consultation were received.  An analysis of 
responses is attached as Appendix E. 

73. The majority of respondents (35) requested that consideration be given to 
redrawing the catchment area boundaries for West Lakes Academy and Millom 
School to develop a dual catchment for the areas of Gosforth, Seascale and 
Eskdale.  A further response was received, also requesting a review of catchment 
area boundaries; that request related to the catchment areas of Appleby 
Grammar School and Ullswater Community College around the village of Temple 
Sowerby. 

74. At a meeting on 3 October 2017, Copeland Local Committee made three 
recommendations to Cabinet for consideration; one of the recommendations was 
that Cabinet consider redrawing the catchment boundaries to provide a shared 
secondary school boundary for Millom and West Lakes Academy covering the 
existing Seascale, St Bega’s and Gosforth Primary Schools. 

75. On 23 November 2017, Cabinet resolved that:

17



1) Cabinet notes the referral by Copeland Local Committee
2) Cabinet received the petition presented by Mr Andrew Pratt
3) Cabinet agrees to apply existing County Council policies and continue to 

support, challenge and work with the Regional Schools Commissioner and 
the wider CASL partnership in bringing about improvements at Whitehaven 
Academy. 

76. In reaching this decision, Members considered information about the potential 
additional transport costs that would fall to the County Council, the ongoing 
financial commitment and that setting a precedent may lead to similar requests 
being received in future.

77. The decision made by Cabinet on 23 November 2017 was called in by Members 
and was considered further by Scrutiny Management Board on 20 December 
2017.  Scrutiny Management Board resolved not to refer the decision taken by 
Cabinet on 23 November 2017 in response to the referral from Copeland Local 
Committee back to Cabinet.

78. Redrawing the catchment boundaries would give applicants priority for admission 
to either West Lakes Academy or Millom School, and would also give an 
entitlement to transport costs to either school.  However, changes to admission 
arrangements (including a catchment boundary change) must be undertaken in 
line with a statutory timetable. 

79. It would also give rise to some potentially substantial additional costs for the 
county council, though given that there are few existing routes from these areas 
to Millom, it is difficult to estimate exact costs at this stage.  

80. Redrawing the catchment boundaries would present an ongoing commitment.  
Whilst at present, the majority of parents living in this area seek places at West 
Lakes Academy, there is no guarantee this will continue; West Lakes Academy 
could find itself subject to a negative Ofsted report, for example, which would 
change the pattern of parental preference.  In any event, given a choice, some 
parents will inevitably exercise it regardless of the perceived relative merits of the 
two schools.  The county council is likely, therefore, to be committing itself to 
long-term additional costs if it redraws the catchment boundaries in the manner 
suggested.

81. A further response to the consultation was received requesting a review of the 
catchment area boundaries of Appleby Grammar School and Ullswater 
Community College around the village of Temple Sowerby. 

82. Temple Sowerby is within the catchment area of Appleby Grammar School.  Local 
authorities must provide free home to school transport for pupils of compulsory 
school age who attend the nearest qualifying school.  In Cumbria this means the 
catchment or nearest qualifying school. 

83. Some properties in the Temple Sowerby area qualify for free home to school 
transport to Ullswater Community College because they are closer in distance to 
Ullswater Community College than they are to Appleby Grammar School which 

18



is the catchment school.  The majority of the area, however, has a transport 
entitlement to the catchment school, Appleby Grammar School. 

84. The review of the catchment area boundaries of Appleby Grammar School and 
Ullswater Community College has been requested with the hope that they can be 
brought up to date to reflect the more diverse educational opportunities that are 
now available to youngsters in the Temple Sowerby area.  

85. A catchment area is a defined geographical area which gives priority for 
admission to families who live within its boundary.  Catchment areas must be 
designed so that they are reasonable and clearly defined and they do not prevent 
parents who live outside the catchment of a particular school from expressing a 
preference for the school.  Catchment areas defined by the LA are also used in 
determining school transport entitlement.  

86. Parents are able to express a preference for the school/s which they would like 
their children to attend but there is no absolute right to access the school that the 
parents would prefer.   Parents are also advised that if transport is a factor in 
deciding on preferred schools, it should be given careful consideration. 

87. Establishing areas of dual catchment is not a county council priority.  There are 
some historical areas of dual catchment but these are long established and were 
created either as a result of school closure/amalgamation or cover areas of rural 
isolation where the distance to surrounding schools is equidistant.

88. For admission purposes, catchment areas form part of an admissions policy.  The 
practice of adopting areas of dual catchment varies across other LAs but those 
that operate areas of dual catchment use it as a mechanism to support strategic 
school planning. 
     

89. The admission arrangements consultation timetable is statutory.  The earliest 
date for a change to the admission arrangements, including a change to 
catchment area boundary would be for those admitted to Year 7 in September 
2021.  Any changes to the admission arrangements for 2021-2022 would be 
subject to a period of consultation; the consultation would last for a minimum of 
6 weeks and must be undertaken between 1 October 2019 and 31 January 2020. 
 

90. As West Lakes Academy has responsibility for determining its own admission 
arrangements, including the catchment area, the school will need to be involved 
in any work on proposed changes to the catchment boundary.  The LA is the 
admission authority for Millom School.  Similarly, Ullswater Community College 
is a foundation school and Appleby Grammar School is an academy so as both 
schools are responsible for their own admissions, these schools would also need 
to be involved in any work on proposed changes to the catchment boundaries.

91. Any person or body who considers that a maintained school or academy’s 
admission arrangements are unlawful or not in compliance with the School 
Admissions Code can make an objection to the Schools Adjudicator.  Objections 
to the admission arrangements for September 2020 must be referred to the 
Adjudicator by 15 May 2019. 

19



  
Children of UK Service Personnel

92. During the consultation period a request was received asking the LA to consider 
amending the admission arrangements to include a section of children of UK 
service personnel. 

93. Any admission requests received for children of UK service personnel are 
processed in line with the School Admissions Code 2014 which states:

‘For families of service personnel with a confirmed posting to their area, or crown 
servants returning from overseas to live in that area, admission authorities must:

a) allocate a place in advance of the family arriving in the area provided the 
application is accompanied by an official letter that declares a relocation 
date and a Unit postal address or quartering area address when 
considering the application against their oversubscription criteria.  This 
must include accepting a Unit postal address or quartering area address 
for a service child.  Admission authorities must not refuse a service child 
because the family does not currently live in the area, or reserve blocks of 
places for these children;

b) ensure that arrangements in their area support the Government’s 
commitment to removing disadvantage for service children.  Arrangements 
must be appropriate for the area and be described in the local authorities 
composite prospectus.’

94. Whilst Members could agree to the inclusion of an additional paragraph in the 
admission arrangements for 2020-21 for Community and Voluntary Controlled 
schools, at this stage it has not been consulted on widely.  If Members feel that 
an additional paragraph setting out how admission requests on respect of 
children of UK service personnel has merit, they could request that it is included 
in the consultation with all schools in 2019 as part of the process for determining 
the 2021-22 admission arrangements.  

Options Considered and Risks Identified

Options for Recommendation (1)

 Members can approve the admissions policy for 2020-21 for Community 
and Voluntary Controlled schools to include the changes to PANs and the 
additional oversubscription criterion in relation to children previously in care 
outside of England; or 

 Members can seek to retain the existing policy without the additional 
oversubscription criteria in relation to children previously in care outside of 
England and without approving the PAN changes; PANs would remain at 
their existing level; or

 Members can retain the existing policy without the additional 
oversubscription criteria in relation to children previously looked after 
outside of England and with some PAN changes approved and others 

20



rejected, or to determine an amended policy eg. by changing the existing 
over subscription criteria with or without some or all of the changes.

Options for Recommendation (2) 

 Members can approve the co-ordinated scheme for 2020-21 for all 
Maintained Schools or make certain amendments.  

Options for Recommendation (3)

 Members can approve the definition of the relevant area for admission 
authorities in Cumbria for the period 2020-2021 to 2022-2023, or for a 
different period of time. 

Options for Recommendation (4)

 Members can approve the nursery admissions policy for 2020-2021 for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled nursery schools and infant/primary 
schools providing nursery education, updated in line with the general 
admissions policy; or

 Members can retain the existing admissions policy for 2020-2021 for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled nursery schools and infant/primary 
schools providing nursery education. 

Options for Recommendation (5)

 Members can approve the implementation of changes of age range at any 
or all of the schools set out in paragraph 60; or

 Members can approve the implementation of changes of age range, but with 
modifications, e.g. a change to the proposed implementation date.  This is 
not recommended; or

 Members can reject the formal changes of age range proposed at any or all 
of the schools listed in paragraph 60.  This course of action may jeopardise 
some early years provision currently in place and is not recommended.

Additional Option – Responses to Consultation

 Members can note the points raised during the consultation period and 
approve the 2020-21 admission arrangements for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled, which includes the current catchment area boundaries 
with no changes; or 

 Taking account of the points raised during the consultation, Members can 
request that further detailed consultation be undertaken in relation to the 
catchment area boundaries of Millom/West Lakes Academy and Appleby 
Grammar School/Ullswater Community College.  This course of action 
would set a significant precedent with regard to dealing with future similar 
requests and would be likely to result in increased expenditure on home to 
school transport.  Any changes would not take effect until 2021-22.

21



 
Risks

 Precedent; significant deviation from agreed county council policies and 
could set a precedent with far-reaching consequences.  Redrawing the 
catchment boundaries as requested would signal to parents that the County 
Council will be prepared to make changes to catchment boundaries on 
request where they are unhappy with their school place allocation.  This is 
likely to give rise to future challenges around catchment boundaries, which 
would also be altered on an ad hoc basis rather than in line with strategic 
priorities.

 Cost; redrawing of transport boundaries would introduce a new transport 
entitlement for parents living in the catchments affected.  For example, in 
future those families living in the catchment areas of Seascale, Gosforth and 
St Bega’s primary school would be entitled to transport to either West Lakes 
Academy or Millom School.  Without knowing future numbers seeking 
places at each school it is difficult to estimate likely costs accurately.  
However, any extra cost would increase year-on-year as additional children 
needed to be catered for.  If further challenges around catchment areas 
were received in future years, the implications could be further increased 
costs in relation to home to school transport across the county and impact 
on the strategic planning in relation to the overall provision of school places. 
     

  

Financial – What Resources will be needed and how will it be Funded?

95. Schools are funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant with funding allocated 
through a National Funding Formula.

96. The proposed amendments to PANs will have no effect on the distribution 
methodology of school budget shares.  A number of the factors within the National 
Funding Formula are linked to pupil numbers so an increase or decrease in PAN, 
and hence pupil numbers at the October census date, will impact on the total 
budget share of individual schools.

97. Amendments both to PANs and to catchment areas may affect school transport 
budgets if pupils need to be transported to their allocated schools, but the 
financial impact cannot be calculated without knowing the likely number of 
children needing and eligible for home to school transport.  However, any 
increase in home to school provision will increase pressure on this budget.

98. Most of the capital cost of a new classroom at Thursby Primary School will be 
funded through Section 106 contributions which have been secured from the 
developer, with the balance funded from DSG.  

Legal Aspects – What needs to be considered?

99. Changes to Admissions Policy: Where changes are proposed to admission 
arrangements, The School Admissions Regulations require that all admissions 
authorities must consult on their admission arrangements that will apply for 

22



admission applications for the following school years.  Details of the requirements 
for consultation and consultees are set out in the School Admissions Code and 
are contained at paras 12 and 14 to 16 of this report.  Cabinet resolved to consult 
on the changes to the admission policy and must carefully consider the responses 
received back before making a decision on changes to the policy. 

100. The Definition of Relevant Areas: The Education (Relevant Areas for 
Consultation on Admission Arrangements) Regulations 1999 set out that it is for 
the Local Authority to determine the scope of consultation that own admission 
authorities must undertake for any changes to their admission arrangements.  
Cabinet resolved to consult on this matter, but no responses were received. 
Cabinet can therefore resolve to follow one of the options for Recommendation 
(3).

101. Changes to PAN:  The School Admissions Code requires the Council as 
admissions authority to consult on any changes to PAN for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled schools. Consultation has now been completed and Cabinet 
can therefore resolve to follow one of the options for Recommendation (1). The 
consultation responses are recorded at paragraph 67 and should be carefully 
noted.

102. Changes to Age Range:   Legal advice is that Cabinet approve the publication 
of statutory notices related to changes to age range at the schools set out from 
paragraph 56 onwards.  This will avoid any challenge to the changes that have 
already been implemented and are in operation by Community Schools. 

103. Catchment Areas:  As per paragraph 89 of this report, the earliest changes to 
the catchment areas could be enacted is in relation to the 2021-2022 academic 
year following statutory consultation next autumn. The risks and costs associated 
with changes to catchment areas are set out as part of recommendation (5). 
Agreeing to further consultation does not compel the Local Authority to implement 
the changes suggested. Further legal comments will be made as and when 
detailed proposals are established.

104. Children of UK Service Personnel:  In order to effectively consult on this issue 
(the detail of which is set out at paragraph 92 onwards) it is recommended that it 
is included in the 2019 consultation, as part of the process to determine 2021-
2022 admission arrangements.

105. The Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme:   The Local Authority is required to 
consult on the scheme as the School Admissions Code requires consultation 
every 7 years, even if there are no proposed changes and it has been seven 
years since the coordinated scheme was last consulted upon.  Cabinet can 
approve the co-ordinated scheme or make certain amendments – as per options 
for recommendation 2.

Council Plan Priority – How do the Proposals Contribute to the Delivery of 
the Council’s Stated Outcomes? (Outcomes - People in Cumbria are 
Healthy and Safe, Places in Cumbria are well connected and thriving, the 
Economy in Cumbria is growing and benefits everyone)

23



106. By allowing parents to express preferences for a range of schools and by giving 
top priority in oversubscription criteria  to children with education, health and care 
plans and those looked after or previously looked after by a local authority, the 
arrangements will support the outcome of ensuring that, ‘people in Cumbria are 
healthy and safe’. 

Appendices and Background Documents

Appendix A Proposed Admissions Policy for Community and Voluntary 
Controlled Schools 2020-21

Appendix B Proposed Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme 2020-21
Appendix C Proposed Relevant Area 2020-21 to 2022-23
Appendix D Proposed Nursery Admission Policy for Community and Voluntary 

Controlled Nursery schools and infant/primary schools providing 
nursery education 2020-21

Appendix E Summary of Consultation Responses 

Key Facts

Electoral Division(s): All

Executive 
Decision 

Key 
Decision 
Included 
in 
Forward 
Plan

Exempt 
from 
call-in

Exemption 
agreed by 
scrutiny 
chair

Considered 
by 
scrutiny, if 
so detail 
below

Environmental 
or 
sustainability 
assessment 
undertaken?

Equality impact 
assessment 
undertaken?

Yes Yes No N/A No

Approved by Cabinet Member on  30 November 2018

Previous relevant Council or Executive decisions
No previous relevant decisions

Consideration by Overview & Scrutiny
Scrutiny Advisory Board – Children and Young People

Background Papers
No background papers

Contact: Sarah Wright , Tel: 07881845565, Email: sarah.wright@cumbria.gov.uk

24



Page 1 of 13

APPENDIX A

ProposedProposed  PolicyPolicy  forfor  thethe  AdmissionAdmission  ArrangementsArrangements  toto  
CommunityCommunity  andand  VoluntaryVoluntary  ControlledControlled  SchoolsSchools  forfor  2020-20212020-2021

1. Introduction

These are the 2020-2021 admission arrangements for community and voluntary 
controlled primary and secondary schools, i.e. those schools where the Local 
Authority (LA) is the admission authority.

2. Co-ordinated Admission Arrangements

In line with current legislation, the LA has drawn up a separate scheme to co-ordinate 
admissions to maintained schools and academies within Cumbria for the main 
admissions round.

3. Published Admission Numbers

The admission number the LA will publish for each community and voluntary 
controlled school is shown in Appendix 1.

4. The General Admissions Policy for 2020-2021

The General Admissions Policy will be used to allocate places at those schools which 
are oversubscribed.  This is attached as Appendix 2 for entry to Reception, Year 3 
and Year 7 and as Appendix 3 for entry to Year 12.

5. Address to be Used in Determining Priority for Admission

If a school is oversubscribed, the address of the parent or carer with whom the child 
normally lives will be used in the allocation process.  Where a child’s address is 
difficult to determine, for example where shared living arrangements are in place, in 
most circumstances, the address of the parent or carer claiming child benefit will be 
used.
In some circumstances, the LA may also suggest that parents or carers seek 
independent legal advice and ask that they provide copies of any relevant court order 
relating to child arrangements.

6. Fraudulent Applications and Withdrawal of a School Place

The LA will not withdraw an offer of a place unless it has been made in error or it is 
established that the offer was obtained through a fraudulent or misleading 
application.   An application will not be withdrawn because an offer was made in error 
once the student has taken up the place at the school.  Where an offer is withdrawn 
on the basis of fraudulent or misleading information, the application will be 
considered again on the basis of the correct information, and parents or carers will 
have a right of appeal where no place can be offered.

Where parents or carers are found to have made a fraudulent application for a school 
place and the LA decides not to withdraw that place in the best interest of the child, 

25



Page 2 of 13

should a school place be sought for any other sibling or siblings the criteria that 
provide a higher priority for a school place for siblings will not be applied.
Where a place has been offered on the basis of a timely parental application, the 
place will not be withdrawn unless one of the exceptions set out in paragraph 2.12 of 
the School Admissions Code 2014 applies.

 An admission authority must not withdraw an offer unless:
i) it has been offered in error;
ii) a parent or carer has not responded within a reasonable period of time; 

and
iii) it is established that the offer was obtained through a fraudulent or 

intentionally misleading application.

7. Parental Disagreement 

The management of school applications may be severely delayed during the main 
admissions round where separated parents or carers of the child each submit a 
separate application for different schools.  The School Admissions Code 2014 states 
that only one offer per child can be made by the LA.  In this situation the LA asks 
that parents or carers attempt to resolve matters between themselves and inform the 
LA in writing of which application should be processed.  The LA will not become 
involved in private disputes.  

In a situation where parents or carers are unable to reach an agreement the LA will 
decide which application should be processed.  In most circumstances the LA will 
process the application submitted by the parent or carer who is in receipt of child 
benefit for the child to whom the application relates.  In some circumstances, the LA 
may also suggest that parents or carers seek independent legal advice and ask that 
they provide copies of any relevant court order relating to child arrangements. 

8. The Admissions Timetable

The timetable for the September 2020 application and allocation processes will be in 
line with the co-ordinated admissions scheme with the exception of entry to Year 12. 
This will be in accordance with the timetable detailed in Appendix 4.

9. Late Applications

For all schools, applications which are received or changed after the published 
closing date will only be considered in exceptional circumstances.  Even if there are 
exceptional circumstances, applications submitted after the relevant published date, 
contained within the co-ordinated admission scheme, will not be considered until 
after allocations for those parents or carers who applied on time have been made.  
Any evidence submitted after the relevant date to support a late application or 
change of preference will not be considered.  Affected applicants will not receive an 
offer with other parents on national offer day, instead receiving one on ‘re-allocation 
day’.

Details of closing dates, and other relevant dates can be found:
i) in the parental information booklets for admission to an infant or primary 

school, transfer to junior school and transfer to secondary school in 
September 2020;

26



Page 3 of 13

ii) in the 2020-21 co-ordinated admissions scheme for all maintained schools 
and academies in the area of Cumbria; and

iii) on the county council website – www.cumbria.gov.uk/schooladmissions

10. Waiting Lists

Once places have been allocated, children refused a place will continue to be 
considered for any vacancies which become available up until the end of the Autumn 
Term 2020.   Vacancies will always be allocated by applying the admissions policy 
and length of time on the waiting list will not be a consideration. 

11. Early, Deferred or Delayed Entry to all Schools and Part Time 
Attendance at Infant/Primary Schools

If a child who has not reached compulsory school age has been allocated a 
Reception place and their parent or carer wishes to defer entry to school, the place 
will be held open.  Entry cannot be deferred beyond the point at which the child 
reaches compulsory school age and not beyond the beginning of the final term of the 
school year for which the place was allocated.    Parents or carers can request that 
their child takes up the place part-time until the child reaches compulsory school age.

Summer-born children do not attain compulsory school age until the September after 
they would normally start school in Reception.  In line with government 
recommendation, the LA as the admission authority for community and voluntary 
controlled schools will admit these children into a Reception class a year later than 
usual at their parents’ or carers request.  These children will remain eligible for their 
full entitlement to schooling, and will subsequently transfer to junior (where 
applicable) and secondary school with other children in the year group in which they 
have been educated, rather than with their ‘chronological cohort’.

Where a summer-born child is allocated, and takes up a September Reception place, 
in the normal year of admission (i.e. the beginning of the academic year in which they 
turn 5) and subsequently attends school beyond the end of the autumn term of the 
admission year, an application for a Reception place the following September will not 
be considered as a ‘summer-born’ application. In this situation the child has already 
commenced school and any request to be admitted out of the normal year group will 
be considered on its individual merits.

Other requests, for early or delayed transfer to secondary school, for example, will be 
considered on their individual merits.  Unlike delayed entry for summer-born children, 
others have no automatic right to education outside of their chronological age group, 
although there is no legal bar to this. 

Parents or carers seeking early transfer should submit their request to school 
admissions by 30 September for secondary applications, and by 31 October for 
primary applications in the year before that in which they would usually apply.  This 
will allow time for the application to be considered prior to the closing date for 
applications.  Parents or carers will still need to submit preferences by the 
appropriate closing date.

Parents or carers seeking delayed entry/transfer should submit their request by the 
same dates in the year in which they would apply if their child was transferring at the 
usual age.  This will allow consideration of the request prior to the closing date for 

27

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/schooladmissions


Page 4 of 13

preferences to be submitted, allowing parents or carers sufficient time to submit 
preferences in the event their request is denied. 

12. Twins and Siblings of Multiple Births 

Where places are available for some but not all children from multiple births 
(including twins) the LA will exercise the discretion offered by the School Admissions 
Code 2014 to offer all of the children a place.  Where this results in an infant class 
exceeding 30 pupils, additional children admitted under these arrangements will be 
treated as ‘excepted pupils’ for the duration of their infant education and will not 
constitute a breach of legislative requirements.

13. Siblings

Siblings of children attending their catchment area school have a higher priority for 
admission when places are allocated at oversubscribed community and voluntary 
controlled schools.  Expressing a preference for a school other than the catchment 
school may result in there not being places available for younger siblings when they 
are due to start school.  Catchment children will have a higher priority for places than 
children living outside of the catchment area, including those children living outside 
the catchment area with siblings that already attend the school. 

14. Children Previously Looked After by a Local Authority and Children 
Previously Looked After outside England 

1) Children Previously Looked After by a Local Authority
Children previously looked after are children who were looked after, but have 
ceased to be so because they were adopted (or became subject to a 
residence/child arrangements order or special guardianship order). 
For a previously looked after child to be considered under category 1 of the LA 
General Admissions Policy, the parent or carer will need to provide appropriate 
written evidence to support the application.  It is the responsibility of the parent 
or carer to provide appropriate documentary evidence with the application; 
without this it will not be possible to consider the application under category 1 
of the LA General Admissions Policy. 

2) Children Previously Looked After outside England
There is no current provision in the School Admissions Code 2014 in relation to 
children who were previously looked after outside England.  Advice issued by 
the Department for Education (DfE) states that a child previously looked after 
outside of England is one that was looked after, outside England, by a public 
authority, a religious organisation or another provider of care whose sole 
purpose is to benefit society.  
For a child previously looked after outside England to be considered under 
category 2 of the LA General Admissions Policy, the parent or carer will need to 
provide appropriate written evidence to support the application, for example, a 
UK adoption order or a copy of the adoption order from the child’s county of 
origin.  It is the responsibility of the parent or carer to provide the appropriate 
documentary evidence with the application; without this it will not be possible to 
consider the application under category 2 of the LA General Admissions Policy.       

For further information, please contact the School Admissions Team: 
 E-mail: school.admissions@cumbria.gov.uk or Tel: 01228 221582  

28

mailto:school.admissions@cumbria.gov.uk


Page 5 of 13

15. Admissions to Nursery Schools and Infant/Primary Schools 
Offering Nursery Education

These arrangements do not apply to the admission of nursery pupils.  Nursery 
admission arrangements will be determined separately.  Attendance at a school’s 
nursery does not guarantee admission to the school’s Reception group.

16. Transfer from Infant to Junior/Primary Schools 

Attendance at an infant school does not guarantee admission to the associated junior 
school. 

17. Admission to School Sixth Forms

These arrangements apply to the admission of students to school sixth forms (Year 
12). 

18. Catchment Areas

Cumbria County Council operates a ‘catchment area’ approach to school admissions.  
Most schools have a defined catchment area.  Details of the arrangements for each 
school can be made available on request. Where an area is not included within an 
agreed catchment area, the “catchment area school” will be the nearest school to the 
parental home.

Any enquiries regarding catchment areas in relation to the allocation of school places 
should be directed to the School Admissions Team:
 E-mail: school.admissions@cumbria.gov.uk or Tel: 01228 221582 

19. Distance Measurements 

1) Straight-line Measure
Where there are more applications than places available at a community or 
voluntary controlled school for entry to all year groups, applications will be 
prioritised using the criteria set out in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3.  For any 
criteria that gives priority to those living closest to the school, distance 
measurements will be undertaken using the LAs computerised Geographical 
Information System (GIS).  This measurement will be a straight-line 
measurement between the centre of the pupil’s home address and a common 
point on the school site as determined by the LA.  

2) Shortest Walking Route by Road
Where a place cannot be offered at any of the parents or carers’ preferred 
schools, the LA will allocate a place at the nearest school in Cumbria to the 
home address with a place available after all timely applications have been 
processed.  In these circumstances, the distance will be measured by the 
shortest walking route by road between the pupil’s home address and the 
nearest available entrance on the school site, using the LA’s GIS mapping 
system. 

                                                                                                                                         

29

mailto:school.admissions@cumbria.gov.uk


Page 6 of 13

20. In Year Admissions 

Where a parent or carer wishes to change school for any reason that is not caused 
by a change of address, the LA may not offer a place at a community or voluntary 
controlled school before the first day of the term following receipt of form SA8 
(request for an in year school place).

Any place offered must be taken up within 6 weeks or it may be withdrawn and 
offered to another applicant.

August 2018

30



Page 7 of 13

Determined 2020-2021 Admission Arrangements for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled Schools - Published 
Admission Numbers
The following are the proposed admission numbers the LA will publish for each community 
and voluntary controlled school as part of its 2020-2021 admission arrangements.

Infant/Primary Schools

School

Proposed 
2020/2021
Published 
Admission 
Number

School

Proposed 
2020/2021
Published 
Admission 
Number

All Saints’ CE Primary 30 Chapel Street Infants  52

Allithwaite CE  15 Clifton  12

Allonby Primary  8 Coniston Primary  14

Alston Primary  15 Croftlands Infant  60

Arlecdon Primary 12 Crosscanonby St John's CE  10

Armathwaite  10 Cummersdale  12

Asby Endowed  6 Cumwhinton  25

Ashfield Infant  60 Dane Ghyll Community Primry 30

Barrow Island Community Primary 30 Derwent Vale Primary and Nursery  15

Beckstone Primary 45 Distington Community Primary  20

Belle Vue Primary  60 Ellenborough and Ewanrigg Infant  23

Bewcastle  8 Ennerdale and Kinniside CE Primary  8

Blennerhasset  7 Fellview Primary  11

Bolton Primary 8 Frizington Community Primary  20

Boltons CE  14 Goodly Dale Community Primary  14

Bookwell Primary  30 Gosforth CE  20 

Bransty Primary 25  Grange CE Primary  30

Bridekirk Dovenby CE Primary 17 Grasslot Infant  30

Brisbane Park Infant 54 Great Orton   10

Brook Street Primary  45 Greystoke  9

Brough Community Primary  15 Haverigg Primary 18

Broughton in Furness CE  15 Hawkshead, Esthwaite Primary    10

Broughton Moor Primary  12 Hensingham Primary  30

Brunswick  45 Heron Hill Primary  60

Burgh by Sands Primary 15 High Hesket CE 25

Burlington CE Primary and Nursery 10 Holm Cultram Abbey CE  10

Caldew Lea  49 Holme Community 15

Cambridge Primary  30 Holme St Cuthbert  8

Captain Shaw's CE  8 Houghton CE  30

Cartmel CE Primary  10 Inglewood Infant  90

Appendix 1

31



Page 8 of 13

Ireby CE  10 Petteril Bank Primary 30

Irthington Village  8 Plumbland CE  8

Jericho  52 Plumpton  15

Kells Infant  30 Ramsden Infant  52

Kingmoor Infant  75 Raughton Head CE  6

Kirkbampton CE  15 Richmond Hill  28

Kirkbride Primary  15 Robert Ferguson Primary  60

Kirkby Stephen Primary  30 Rockcliffe CE  20

Kirkby Thore  12 Roose  30

Kirkoswald CE  13 Seascale Primary  22

Lamplugh CE  10 Sedbergh Primary  30

Lanercost CE  10 Shankhill CE Primary  8

Langwathby CE Primary 30 Silloth Primary  30

Lees Hill CE  8 Sir John Barrow 30

Levens CE  15 Skelton  15

Lindal and Marton Primary  12 South Walney Infant  60

Lindale CE  12 St Bees Village Primary  30

Long Marton Community Primary  10 St Bridget’s CE, Brigham 17

Low Furness CE Primary   17 St Bridget’s CE, Parton 10

Lowca Community  12 St George’s CE  30

Maryport Infant*  45 St James’ CE Infant, Whitehaven 45

Milburn  5 St Michael’s CE Primary  30

Millom Infant  36 St Michael’s Nursery & Infant, Workington 30

Milnthorpe Primary  30 Staveley CE  20

Montreal CE Primary  40 Stoneraise  16

Moor Row Community Primary 15 Storth CE  10

Moresby Primary  15 Temple Sowerby CE Primary 8

Nenthead  4 Thornhill Primary  11

Netherton Infant  30 Threlkeld CE Primary  10

Newbarns Primary  60 Thursby Primary  20

Newlaithes Infant  60 Thwaites  9

Newton Primary  10 Upperby Primary  60

Newtown  30 Valley Primary  45

Norman Street Primary  50 Vicarage Park CE Primary  30

North Walney Primary  23 Vickerstown  30

Old Hutton CE  15 Victoria Infant & Nursery, Barrow 75

Orgill Primary  40 Victoria Infant, Workington 60

Ormsgill Primary  30 Westfield Nursery and Primary  30

Pennine Way Primary  90 Wigton Infant  60

Pennington CE  30 Wreay CE Primary  16
* Maryport Infant School and Maryport CE Junior School will amalgamate to form an all-

through primary school with a PAN of 45 with effect from September 2019.

  

32



Page 9 of 13

Junior Schools

Ashfield Junior  64 Monkwray  38

Black Combe Junior  34 Newlaithes Junior  60

Croftlands Junior  60 North Lakes  57

Ewanrigg Junior  45 Seaton St Paul’s CE Junior  60

George Romney Junior  45 South Walney Junior  64

Greengate Junior  60 St James' CE Junior, Whitehaven 48

Inglewood Junior  90 Thomlinson Junior  60

Kingmoor Junior  75 Victoria Junior, Workington 90

Maryport CE Junior * 48
* Maryport Infant School and Maryport CE Junior School will amalgamate to form an all-

through primary school with a PAN of 45 with effect from September 2019.

Secondary Schools – Year 7

Beacon Hill Community  70 Nelson Thomlinson School, The 210

Dowdales  210 Netherhall  186

John Ruskin  48 Solway Community  59

Lakes School, The 129 Ulverston Victoria High  186

Millom  145

Secondary Schools – Year 12

Lakes School, The 25 Netherhall School 10

Millom School 25 Ulverston Victoria High School 50

Nelson Thomlinson School, The  50

The numbers for Year 12 represent the number of pupils that may be admitted to Year 12 
from an alternative school.

33



Page 10 of 13

CUMBRIA EDUCATION SERVICE
PROPOSED GENERAL ADMISSIONS POLICY 2020/2021

Community and Voluntary Controlled Schools

Where there are more applications than places available at a community or voluntary 
controlled school for entry to all year groups except Year 12, applications will be prioritised 
using the criteria below.  They will be applied in conjunction with explanatory notes 1 – 6 
which form part of the policy.  

1. Children looked after and who were previously looked after, i.e. in public care, giving 
priority, if necessary, to the youngest child(ren) - see note 1.

2. Children who were previously looked after outside of England – see note 1.

3. Children living in the catchment area who have brothers or sisters in the school (or   
associated infant or junior school) at the time of admission - see notes 2 and 3.

4. Children living outside the catchment area who, at the time of their admission, have 
brothers or sisters in the school (or associated infant or junior school) who were 
allocated a place at that school by the Local Authority either (a) in the absence of a 
place being available in the catchment area school due to oversubscription and the 
school was identified by the Local Authority as the next nearest with a place 
available or (b) the school is named in the sibling’s Education, Health and Care Plan 
(EHCP) - see notes 2, 3 and 4. 

5. Other children living in the catchment area giving priority to those living closest to the 
school, measured by a straight-line measurement between the centre of the pupil’s 
home address and a common point on the school site as determined by the Local 
Authority - see notes 5 and 6. 

6. Children living outside the catchment area who have brothers or sisters in the school 
(or associated infant or junior school) at the time of their admission - see notes 2 and 
3.

7. Children living outside the catchment area, giving priority to those who live closest to 
the school, measured by a straight-line measurement between the centre of the 
pupil’s home address and a common point on the school site as determined by the 
Local Authority - see notes 5 and 6.

Applications will be prioritised on the above basis.  An exception will be made under the 
Local Authority’s policy for the education of children with special educational needs where 
a child holds an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP), that names the school.

Appendix 2

34



Page 11 of 13

Explanatory Notes
[These notes are part of the policy]

Note 1
A child looked after is a child in public care, who is looked after by a local authority within 
the meaning of Section 22 of the Children Act 1989.  Children previously looked after are 
children who were looked after, but have ceased to be so because they were adopted 
(under the terms of the Adoption and Children Act 2002) or became subject to a Child 
Arrangements Order or Special Guardianship Order (Children Act 1989).
The provision to give the highest priority to looked after and previously looked after children 
applies to all children who have been adopted from local authority care.
Advice issued by the Department for Education (DfE) in August 2018 states that a child 
previously looked after outside of England is one that was looked after, outside England, by 
a public authority, a religious organisation or another provider of care whose sole purpose 
is to benefit society.  

Note 2
In criteria 2, 3 and 6, priority will be given to those children with the youngest siblings.  
Brothers and sisters are those living at the same address and includes step and foster 
children.  Priority will only be given where it is known at the time of allocating places that a 
sibling will be attending the school (excluding a nursery class) at the time of admission.

Note 3
Where reference is made to ‘associated’ infant and junior schools this is to describe those 
situations where infant and junior schools share the same catchment area.

Note 4
If a parent or carer believes that they qualify for consideration under criterion 3, they should 
indicate this on their preference form in the place provided for this purpose.  

Note 5
Distance measurements will be undertaken using the Local Authority’s computerised 
Geographical Information System [GIS].  This measures a straight-line measurement 
between the centre of the pupil’s home address and a common point on the school site as 
determined by the Local Authority.

Note 6 
Random allocation will be used as a tie-break in categories 4 and 6 to decide who has the 
highest priority for admission if the distance between the children’s home address and the 
school is the same.  This process will be independently verified. 

35



Page 12 of 13

CUMBRIA EDUCATION SERVICE
PROPOSED GENERAL ADMISSIONS POLICY (YEAR 12) 2020-2021

Community and Voluntary Controlled Schools

Where there are more applications than places available in Year 12 at a community or 
voluntary controlled school, applications will be prioritised using the criteria below.  They 
will be applied in conjunction with explanatory notes – 1 – 5 which form part of the policy.  

1. Students (children) looked after and previously looked after, i.e. in public care, giving 
priority, if necessary, to the youngest child(ren) – see note 1.

2. Students who were previously looked after outside of England – see note 1.

3. Students living in the catchment area who have brothers or sisters in the school at 
the time of their admission – see note 2.  

4. Students living outside the catchment area who, at the time of their admission, have 
brothers or sisters in the school who were allocated a place at that school by the 
Local Authority either (a) in the absence of a place being available in the catchment 
area school due to oversubscription and the school was identified by the Local 
Authority as the next nearest with a place available or (b) the school is named in the 
sibling’s Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) – see notes 2, and 3. 

5. Other students living in the catchment area.

6. Students living outside the catchment area who have brothers or sisters in the 
school at the time of their admission – see note 2.

7.  Students living outside the catchment area.

8. Where there is a need to prioritise places within any of the above criteria except 
criteria 1, priority will be given to those students who live nearest to the school – see 
note 4 and 5 overleaf.

Applications will be prioritised on the above basis.  An exception will be made under the 
Authority's policy for the education of children with special educational needs where a 
child holds an Education, Health and Care Plan, that names the school.

Appendix 3

36



Page 13 of 13

Explanatory Notes
[These notes are part of the policy]

Note 1
A child looked after, i.e., in public care, is defined as a child who is looked after by a local 
authority within the meaning of Section 22 of the Children Act 1989. Children previously 
looked after are children who were looked after, but have ceased to be so because they 
were adopted (under the terms of the Adoption and Children Act 2002) or became subject 
to a Child Arrangements Order or Special Guardianship Order (Children Act 1989).
The provision to give the highest priority to looked after and previously looked after 
children applies to all children who have been adopted from local authority care.
Advice issued by the Department for Education (DfE) in August 2018 states that a child 
previously looked after outside of England is one that was looked after, outside England, 
by a public authority, a religious organisation or another provider of care whose sole 
purpose is to benefit society.  

Note 2
Brothers and sisters are those living at the same address and includes step and foster 
children.  Priority will only be given where it is known at the time of allocating places that a 
sibling will be attending the school at the time of admission.

In circumstances where there is an application for more than one child in the family, and it 
is not possible to offer a place to all of the children concerned, it will be up to the parent or 
carers to decide whether they wish to accept the place[s] offered.  This will also be the 
case in relation to twins, etc.

Note 3
If parent or carers believe they qualify for consideration under criterion 3, they should 
indicate this on their preference form in the place provided for this purpose.

Note 4
Distance measurements will be undertaken using the Local Authority’s computerised 
Geographical Information System [GIS].  This measures a straight-line measurement 
between the centre of the pupil’s home address and a common point on the school site as 
determined by the LA.

Note 5 
Random allocation will be used as a tie-break in categories 4 and 6 to decide who has the 
highest priority for admission if the distance between the children’s home address and the 
school is the same.  This process will be independently verified. 

37



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 19

APPENDIX B

Proposed Co-ordinated Admission Scheme for all Maintained 
Schools and Academies in the Area of Cumbria County Council 
2020–2021

Note: the list of schools may need to be revised to provide for the conversion of some 
schools to academies or to take account of other school organisational changes.

For the purposes of this document ‘school’ refers to maintained schools and academies 
unless otherwise indicated.

1. Introduction

(1) In line with the requirements of the 1998 School Standards and Framework Act (as 
amended) this scheme has been drawn up by Cumbria County Council to co-
ordinate admissions to all maintained schools and academies in Cumbria, except 
for entry to Year 12 and for entry to special and nursery schools, regardless of 
whether the Local Authority (LA) or the governing body is the admission authority.  

(2) The scheme’s purpose is to ensure that, as far as reasonably practicable:
i) Every parent or carer living in Cumbria who has applied for a place for their 

child for entry in September 2020 to Reception in an infant or primary school, 
Year 3 in junior school or to Year 7 at a secondary school in the normal 
admissions round, receives only one offer of a school place for each child on:
(a) 1 March (or the next working day) for transferring to Year 7 at a 

secondary school;  

NOTE: The School Admissions Code 2014 states that, ‘for secondary 
school applications, all offers must be made on the same secondary 
National Offer Day ie. 1 March or the next working day’.   
As 1 March 2020 will be a Sunday, offers of Year 7 places for 
September 2020 will be made on Monday 2 March 2020 (the next 
working day after 1 March 2020).

(b) 16 April (or the next working day) for starting infant or primary school 
(Reception year group);

(c) 16 April (or the next working day) for transferring to Year 3 at a junior 
school.

ii) Every parent or carer living in Cumbria who applies for a school place at a 
school at any other time, except for admission to Year 12 and for entry to 
special and nursery schools receives only one offer of a place for each child 
on the following basis:

(a) Applications received after the first day of the school term of the 
admissions year, and at any other time for entry to the normal year of 
entry, will be treated as ‘in year’ admissions.  

Note: The management of school applications may be severely delayed 
where separated parents or carers of the child each submit a separate 
application for different schools.  The School Admissions Code 2014 states 
that only one offer per child is made by the LA.  In this situation the LA asks 
that parents or carers attempt to resolve matters between themselves, and 

39



Page 2 of 19

inform the LA in writing of which application should be processed.  It is not 
appropriate for the LA to become involved in private disputes.  The LA does 
recognise that there may be exceptional situations where parents or carers 
cannot ultimately reach an agreement between themselves and it is, therefore, 
necessary for the LA to take a decision.  Where this is the case the LA will, if 
appropriate, advise parents to seek independent legal advice.  The LA will also 
try to establish the child’s permanent address and prioritise the application 
made by the parent or carer living at this address in accordance with the 
published admission arrangements.  In most circumstances this will be the 
application submitted by the parent or carer who is in receipt of the child 
benefit for the child to whom the application relates.
There may be some circumstances where the LA will suggest that parents or 
carers seek independent legal advice and ask that they provide copies of any 
relevant court order relating to child arrangements. 

(3) The scheme does not apply to those places set aside for boarders.

(4) The scheme will be implemented in line with the timetables set out in Appendices 
1 and 2.

(5) Appendices 3 and 4 list the admission authorities to which the scheme applies.
 

2. The Common Application Forms

(1) There will be three standard forms known as the Common Application Forms.  In 
line with county council policy, online applications are encouraged and references 
to the various forms below include those available online.  Hard copies are also 
available. The forms are as follows:

SA1 – Admission to Infant or Primary School – September 2020
SA2 – Transfer to Junior School – September 2020
SA3 – Transfer to Secondary School – September 2020

(2) The forms will be used for the purpose of admitting pupils into the Reception Year 
for infant and primary, Year 3 for junior and Year 7 for secondary intake groups in 
September 2020. They will: 

 invite parents or carers to express three preferences for schools in rank order 
of preference including, where relevant, any schools outside the LA’s area;

 explain that parents or carers are entitled to give their reasons for their 
preferences; and

 specify the closing date and to whom the form must be returned.

(3) The LA will ensure that the SA1, SA2, and SA3 are available online and from the 
LA. They will be available online from 9 September 2019.  Parents and/or carers of 
children in their last year at an infant school will receive information about how to 
apply for a junior school place from the infant school.  Those with a child in the last 
year of a primary or junior school will receive information about how to apply for a 
secondary school place from their current primary or junior school.  Information 
about schools together with an application form will be made available on the 
Cumbria County Council website.

(4) The governing body of a voluntary aided, foundation, free school or an academy 
trust can require parents or carers who wish to express a preference for their 
school on the common application form, to provide additional information on a 
supplementary form, or by way of supporting evidence only where the information 

40



Page 3 of 19

is required for the governing body or academy trust to apply their oversubscription 
criteria.  Where a supplementary form or supporting evidence is required it must 
be returned to the school where entry is sought.  

(5) A supplementary form will not be regarded as a valid application unless the 
parent and/or carer has also completed a common application form and the school 
has been given as one of their preferences.  

(6) Where common application forms are sent directly to voluntary aided, foundation, 
free schools or academies, they must be passed to the LA within five school days.  

3. The Closing Date for Application Forms [SA1, SA2 and SA3]

(1)Completed forms must be returned as follows:

SA3 – by 31 October 2019 online, to the child’s current junior or primary school or 
directly to the School Admissions and Appeals Team;
SA1 – by 15 January 2020 online, to the parent or carer’s preferred school or 
directly to the School Admissions and Appeals team; and
SA2 – by 15 January 2020 online, to the child’s current infant school or directly to 
the School Admissions and Appeals Team. 

Parents or carers who are resident in Cumbria and whose children do not attend a 
school in Cumbria, or any parent or carer preferring to return their form direct to 
the LA, should return the form to the School Admissions and Appeals Team.  The 
same closing dates apply.  

Parents or carers who are resident in Cumbria and who wish to apply for a school 
place at a maintained school or academy outside of Cumbria should still complete 
one of the above forms and make an application via Cumbria and submit their 
application to the School Admissions and Appeals Team by the closing dates as 
set out above.

(2)   Where a preference has been expressed for a voluntary aided, foundation, free 
school or an academy requiring a supplementary form or supporting evidence, this 
should be returned directly to that school by the above closing dates.

 
(3)   All schools must forward completed application forms to the LA on a weekly basis 

as and when they are received.  The final deadlines for the forms to be sent by 
first class post are:

 SA3 – 8 November 2019
 SA1 – 20 January 2020  
 SA2 – 20 January 2020  

(4) In relation to all schools, preferences which are submitted or changed after the 
closing date will only be considered in exceptional circumstances.  

(5) Even if there are exceptional circumstances, it will not be possible to consider 
applications received or changed after:

3 January 2020 for Transfer to Secondary - Year 7 [SA3]
14 February 2020 for Starting Infant or Primary - Reception [SA1]
14 February 2020 for Transfer to Junior - Year 3 [SA2]

41



Page 4 of 19

until after the allocation of places has been made for all those parents or carers who 
applied on time. 

4. Completing the SA1, SA2 and SA3 Application Forms

(1) If a parent or carer completes the application form in such a way that the ranking of 
two or more preferences is not clear, the distance between home and school, 
measured by the shortest walking route by road between the pupil’s home address 
and the nearest available entrance on the school site, using the LA’s Geographical 
Information System (GIS) mapping system, will be used to rank the preferences 
concerned.  The nearest school will be regarded as the highest preference.

(2) If more than one form is received, and any earlier applications have not been 
withdrawn in writing, the most recently dated application form [submitted by the 
relevant closing date] will be used.  If forms are not dated or are dated on the same 
day, those schools where the order of preferences is not clear will be ranked as in 
4(1) above.  See also, section 2(ii) relating to parental disputes.  

5. Testing of Ability or Aptitude

(1) Where a selection test of any kind, i.e. for ability or aptitude, is part of the school’s 
admission arrangements, the admission authority for the school must make it clear to 
parents or carers that, whilst they can be tested, they are still required to express a 
preference for that school on the appropriate form SA1, SA2 or SA3 otherwise they 
will not have applied for a school place.

6. Determining Offers in Response to the Common Application Forms [i.e. SA1, SA2 
and SA3]

(1) All preferences will be considered equally.  This is known as an equal preference 
scheme.  It means that a child will be considered for a place at each school named 
on the application form irrespective of whether the school was given as the 1st, 2nd or 
3rd preference on the application.  Where a child is eligible for a place at more than 
one of the preferred schools given on the original application form, a place at the 
school given as the highest preference will be offered on national offer day.

(2) The LA will only make any decision with respect to the offer or refusal of a place in 
response to any preferences expressed on the application forms where:

 it is acting in its separate capacity as an admission authority, or
 an applicant is eligible for a place at more than one school [see 6(1) above]; or
 an applicant is not eligible for a place at any school for which they have 

expressed a preference.  A place would only be offered at a voluntary aided, 
foundation, free school or an academy if its admission number had not been 
reached in offering places to those parents and/or carers who submitted a timely 
application and gave the school as one of their three preferences.

7. Parents and Carers Applying for a Place at a School Outside of Cumbria

(1) Parents or carers may express a preference for school[s] in another LA area. 
 
(2) If a pupil would be eligible for a place at a school in Cumbria and a neighbouring 

Authority has also indicated that a place can be offered at one of its schools, the 
parents and/or carers will be offered the place at the school which was ranked as 
their highest preference. 

42



Page 5 of 19

8. Processing Parental Preferences

The following timetable sets out the final deadline dates that will be applied y to the 
processing of parent or carer preferences received by the relevant closing date:

Secondary
[SA3]

Reception
[SA1]

Junior
[SA2]

LA notification to other LAs of preferences 
expressed for schools in their area. 18.11.19 27.01.20 27.01.20

LA notification to voluntary aided, foundation, 
free schools and academies of all first, 
second and third preference applications 
received [see note]

22.11.19 29.01.20 29.01.20

Final date for governing bodies of voluntary 
aided, foundation and free schools and 
academy trusts to consider all applications, 
apply the school’s oversubscription criteria 
and provide the LA with a list showing which 
category in their admissions policy each 
applicant falls into.

Ranking of applicants in the category in 
which the cut-off point falls must also be 
shown.

Note: Any school having difficulties meeting 
this deadline must agree an alternative one 
with the School Admissions and Appeals 
Team.

13.12.19 11.02.20 11.02.20

Liaison period for the LA and voluntary aided, 
foundation, free schools and academies to 
finalise allocations.  Lists for oversubscribed 
schools will be compared.  Where a place can 
be offered at more than one school, the LA 
will identify the highest preference school that 
can be offered.  This will become the 
‘provisional allocation’.

16.12.19
to
24.01.20

12.02.20 
to
06.03.20

12.02.20 
to
06.03.20

Finalise Allocations
Other LAs notified of places in schools in 
Cumbria to be offered to their residents.

Notification to all maintained schools and 
academies of number of pupils to be offered a 
place.  NB: This is confidential information 
and must not be passed on to parents or 
carers.

LA notification to parents or carers informing 
them of the outcome of their application [Offer 
Days].

10.02.20

21.02.20

02.03.20

20.03.20

03.04.20

16.04.20

20.03.20

03.04.20

16.04.20

43



Page 6 of 19

Note 
The LA will notify voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and academies of all first, 
second and third preference applications which have been received for their school.  In 
line with legislation, where these preferences are passed on, the order of parents or 
carers’ preferences will not be made known to schools.  
Community and voluntary controlled schools will be informed how many first preference 
applications have been received.  

 During the liaison period with voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and 
academies, the LA will adjust the pupil lists to remove children who can be offered a 
higher preference school.

 Voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and academies will have provided a full 
ranking list to the LA by 13 December 2019.  However, during the liaison period, the 
LA may need to discuss changes to the allocation lists with voluntary aided, foundation 
free schools and academies and some further ranking may be required.  Where this is 
the case, an appropriate deadline for the submission of revised information, to the LA, 
will be agreed with the individual school.

9. Distance Measurements

(1) Straight-line Measure
Where there are more applications than places available at a community or voluntary 
controlled school for entry to all year groups, applications will be prioritised using the 
oversubscription criteria set out in the General Admission Policy 2020-21.  For any 
criteria that gives priority to those living closest to the school, distance measurements 
will be undertaken using the LAs computerised Geographical Information System 
(GIS).  This measurement will be a straight-line measurement between the centre of 
the pupil’s home address and a common point on the school site as determined by 
the LA.  

(2) Shortest Walking Route by Road
Where a place cannot be offered at any of the parents or carers’ preferred schools, 
the LA will allocate a place at the nearest school in Cumbria to the home address 
with a place available after all timely applications have been processed.  In these 
circumstances, the distance will be measured by the shortest walking route by road 
between the pupil’s home address and the nearest available entrance on the school 
site using the LA’s GIS mapping system. 

10. Where a Place is Not Available at the Parents or Carers’ Preferred Schools

(1) Where a child is not eligible for a place at any of their parents or carers’ preferred 
schools, they will be allocated a place at the nearest school in Cumbria to the home 
address with a place available after all timely applications have been processed, 
measured by the shortest walking route by road (9(2) refers) using the LA’s GIS 
mapping system.  Unless a parent or carer has specifically stated that they would not 
accept a place at a Catholic school, a place at a Catholic school would be offered 
where this is the nearest appropriate school.

(2) If only one school is named on the application form and it is not possible to allocate a 
place at that school, the child will not automatically be considered for any other 
schools in the local area, eg. the catchment area school; this is because the schools 
were not named on the application form.  In these circumstances a place will be 
allocated at the nearest school in Cumbria with a place available after all timely 

44



Page 7 of 19

applications have been processed, measured by the shortest walking route by road 
(9(2) refers) using the LA’s GIS mapping system. 

(3) If a school is identified as the alternative school for more pupils than there are places 
available, the school’s oversubscription criteria will determine priority for a place.  

11. Informing Parents and Carers of the Outcome of Their Application

(1) The LA will inform all parents or carers of the outcome of their application as follows:

Online applications
Parents or carers who have made their application online will receive an email on the 
following dates, or on the first working day thereafter:

Year 7 Places [Secondary] - 2 March 2020 [see note at 2(i)(a)] 
Reception Places [Infant/Primary] - 16 April 2020
Year 3 Places [Junior] - 16 April 2020

Paper applications
Parents or carers who have made paper applications will receive a letter, which will 
be sent by post on the dates above, or on the first working day thereafter:

The letters will give the following information:

 the name of the school at which a place has been offered;

 in relation to voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and academies, that the 
offer is made on behalf of the governing body or the academy trust;

 the reasons why the child has not been offered a place at the other schools 
which were given as a preference (if relevant);

 contact details for the LA where a place has not been offered;

 information about their statutory right of appeal against the decision to refuse a 
place at any school given as a higher preference;

 confirmation that the right of appeal is in relation to any school given as a 
preference and where a place has not been allocated; and 

 confirmation that in the re-allocation process, parents or carers will be considered 
for any places that might become available in schools they ranked higher than 
the school they have been offered, and what to do if they wish to be considered 
for any vacancies beyond that point.

(2) Parents or carers who don’t wish to take up the place offered because they have 
made alternative arrangements will be asked to do so by the following dates:

Year 7 Places [Secondary] 16 March 2020
Reception Places [Infant/Primary] 1 May 2020
Year 3 Places [Junior] 1 May 2020

If parents or carers do not respond by this date it will be deemed that they have 
accepted the place.

45



Page 8 of 19

12. Re-allocating Places which are not Taken Up or Subsequently Become Vacant

(1) The LA will re-allocate any places which have become vacant since allocation letters 
were sent out.  This will take place on or around:

Year 7 Places [Secondary] 25 March 2020
Reception Places [Infant/Primary] 13 May 2020
Year 3 Places [Junior] 13 May 2020

(2) Consideration will be given to all outstanding applicants, including any late 
applications.

(3) Places will be re-allocated by applying the school’s oversubscription criteria (for 
community and voluntary controlled schools the LA oversubscription criteria will 
apply).  Where the information is not already held, the LA will liaise with voluntary 
aided, foundation, free schools and academies regarding the ranking of outstanding 
applicants.

(4) During the course of the year, as vacancies arise, the LA will re-allocate the places to 
those applicants on the waiting list of community and voluntary controlled schools in 
accordance with its oversubscription criteria.

13. Late Applications Submitted After the Main Intake Closing Dates

(1) Applications received by the LA after the main admissions round closing dates and 
where there are no exceptional circumstances, or after the dates specified at 3(5) 
even if there are exceptional circumstances, will only be considered after the 
allocation decisions have been made in paragraph 8.

(2) Where it is not possible to offer a place on the Offer Days [paragraph 8] a place will 
be offered as soon as possible thereafter.  For any school that is oversubscribed, late 
applicants will not be notified of the outcome of their application until after re-
allocation day.

14. Waiting Lists

Waiting lists for schools will be kept by the relevant admission authority until the end of the 
autumn term 2020 as a minimum.  

15. Applications Received After the First Day of the School Year and Other In Year 
Requests for Admission

(1) Applications received after the first day of the school term of the admissions year, 
and at any time for entry other than to the normal year of entry, will be treated as in 
year admissions.  These applications should be made on form SA8.  

(2) Once any places have been re-allocated on the specified dates, any applications for 
entry in September 2020 to Reception in an infant or primary school, Year 3 in a 
junior school or Year 7 in a secondary school will continue to be treated as main 
intake applications for the normal admissions round.  Forms SA1, SA2 and SA3 will 
be used for this purpose up until the first day of the school term of the normal 
admissions year.  From re-allocation day up until the first day of the school term of 
the normal admissions year, the LA will continue to process all main intake 
applications.  The LA will liaise with voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and 
academies regarding the allocation of places for the normal year of entry.  The LA, as 

46



Page 9 of 19

the admissions authority, will continue to process applications for community and 
voluntary controlled schools for the normal year of entry.

(3) For community and voluntary controlled schools which have been oversubscribed, 
the LA will continue to re-allocate places up to the end of the autumn term in line with 
its published admission arrangements.  Schools must, therefore, refer any parents or 
carers who contact them to request a school place to the LA.  Other community and 
voluntary controlled schools should confirm the availability of places with the parent 
or carer.

(4) On an ongoing basis it will be possible, in many instances, to deal with in year 
requests for places without involving the LA.  Parents will contact schools directly and 
it will be possible to offer a place without any difficulty and without the need for a 
formal application.  Schools should inform the LA when they have offered places, so 
student records can be kept up to date.

(5) In relation to a community or voluntary controlled school, if a parent contacts the 
school requesting admission and it is not possible to offer a place, the parent should 
be referred to the School Admissions and Appeals Team in order that form SA8 can 
be completed by the parent.  On receipt of the SA8 the LA will determine whether 
refusal is appropriate and, if so, write to the parent or carer formally refusing the 
request and offering the right of appeal.  Alternative preferences would also be 
pursued and if necessary, ie. in relation to voluntary aided, foundation, free schools 
and academies, the application would be referred to the governing body or academy 
trust for determination.

(6) If any parent approaches a voluntary aided, foundation, free school or academy 
directly about an in year admission, the governing body or academy trust should offer 
a place where possible and notify the LA.  Where a place cannot be offered, the 
governing body or academy trust must offer the right of appeal, and advise the 
parent to contact the LA [School Admissions and Appeals Team] in order that a form 
SA8 can be completed.  
Own admission authority schools must notify the LA of both the application and its 
outcome to allow the LA to keep up to date figures on the availability of places in the 
area.

(7) Where the LA receives an SA8 direct from a parent giving a voluntary aided, 
foundation, free school or academy as their first preference or in pursuing alternative 
preferences where higher preferences have been refused, the request will be 
referred to the governing body or academy trust to make a determination regarding 
the application.  The governing body or academy trust should notify the parent or 
carer in writing of its decision with a copy to the LA.

(8) Parents who are refused admission must be offered a right of appeal.  Information 
about the appeals process must be provided by the relevant admission authority in 
the refusal letter.

(9) The LA will keep track of any pupils who apply for in year admission using form SA8, 
and intervene as appropriate to ensure that they are placed in a school without 
undue delay.

16. Applications for Energy Coast UTC

(1)(1) The closing date for applications for September 2020 Year 10 places will be advised 
by Energy Coast UTC during the autumn term 2018.

47



Page 10 of 19

(2)(2) Applicants will be notified of the outcome of their application on 2 March 2020 [see 
note at 2(i)(a)].

(3)(3) Energy Coast UTC will process their own applications for admission to Year 12 in 
September 2020.

48



Page 11 of 19

AppendixAppendix  11
CO-ORDINATEDCO-ORDINATED  ADMISSIONSADMISSIONS  SCHEMESCHEME  FORFOR  INFANT,INFANT,  JUNIORJUNIOR  ANDAND  PRIMARYPRIMARY  SCHOOLSSCHOOLS  
[MAIN[MAIN  ADMISSIONSADMISSIONS  ROUND]ROUND]

SchemeScheme  TimetableTimetable  --  SeptemberSeptember  20202020  EntryEntry  toto  ReceptionReception  andand  YearYear  33

15 January 2020 SA1s [Reception] to be submitted online to the School 
Admissions and Appeals Team; if submitting a paper form, 
return to the parents or carers first preference school or directly 
to the School Admissions and Appeals Team.  Any 
supplementary form and documentary evidence, if required, that 
is relevant in relation to admission to voluntary aided, 
foundation, free schools and academies must be returned by 
parents or carers to the school for which the supplementary 
information is relevant.

SA2s [Year 3] to be submitted online to the School Admissions 
and Appeals Team; if submitting a paper form, return to the 
parents or carers first preference school or directly to the School 
Admissions and Appeals Team.  Any supplementary form and 
documentary evidence, if required, that is relevant in relation to 
admission to voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and 
academies must be returned by parents and carers to the school 
for which the supplementary information is relevant.

20 January 2020 Schools to pass SA1s and SA2s to the LA on a weekly basis as 
and when they are received, but to be sent by first class post on 
this date at the latest.

Schools to maintain a record of all forms received. This should 
include a list of who has submitted an application form together 
with the date the form is received in school.

27 January 2020 Other LAs to be notified of preferences which have been 
expressed for schools in their area.

29 January 2020 The LA will notify voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and 
academies of all first, second and third preference applications 
which have been received for their school.  In line with 
legislation, where these preferences are passed on, the order of 
parents or carers’ preferences will not be made known to 
schools.  Community and voluntary controlled schools will be 
informed how many first preference applications have been 
received.  

11 February 2020 Voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and academies to 
provide LA with a list showing which category in their admissions 
policy each applicant falls into.  This list should also be in rank 
order, ranked from 1 onwards, beginning with the applicant with 
the highest priority for a place at the school through to the 
applicant with the lowest priority for a place.    If any school has 
difficulties with this deadline, an alternative one must be agreed.

49



Page 12 of 19

14 February 2020 After this date, no late or changed applications to be considered, 
even if there are exceptional circumstances.

12 February 2020 to
06 March 2020

The LA will liaise with voluntary aided, foundation, free schools 
and academies in order to finalise allocations.

20 March 2020 Other LAs will be notified of places in schools in Cumbria.

27 March 2020 to 3 April 
2020

LA will finalise allocations.

3 April 2020 LA will confirm final allocations with all maintained schools and 
academies in Cumbria.

16 April 2020 LA will notify parents or carers of their allocation.

01 May 2020 Parents or carers who don’t wish to take up the place offered 
because they have made alternative arrangements will be asked 
to respond by this date.   Where parents and carers have not 
responded by this date, the LA will assume acceptance of the 
place offered.

13 May 2020 LA will re-allocate any places which have become available.

50



Page 13 of 19

AppendixAppendix  22
CO-ORDINATEDCO-ORDINATED  ADMISSIONSADMISSIONS  SCHEMESCHEME  --  SECONDARYSECONDARY  SCHOOLSSCHOOLS  [MAIN[MAIN  ADMISSIONSADMISSIONS  
ROUND]ROUND]

SchemeScheme  TimetableTimetable  --  SeptemberSeptember  20202020  EntryEntry  toto  YearYear  77

31 October 2019 SA3s to be submitted online to the School Admissions and 
Appeals Team; if submitting a paper form, return to the child’s 
current school or directly to the School Admissions and Appeals 
Team. Any supplementary form and documentary evidence, if 
required, that is relevant in relation to admission to voluntary 
aided, foundation, free schools and academies must be returned 
by parents or carers to the school for which the supplementary 
information is relevant.

Each primary school should maintain a record of the applications 
it receives from parents or carers as well as the date these are 
received. The school should contact those parents or carers 
where the record kept in school indicates that a parent or carer 
may not have applied for a Year 7 school place.

08 November 2019 Schools to pass SA3s and any supplementary forms to the LA 
on a weekly basis as and when they are received, but to be sent 
by first class post on this date at the latest. 

18 November 2019 Other LAs to be notified of preferences which have been 
expressed for schools in their area.  

22 November 2019 The LA will notify voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and 
academies of all first, second and third preference applications 
which have been received for their school.  In line with 
legislation, where these preferences are passed on, the order of 
parents or carers’ preferences will not be made known to 
schools.  Community and voluntary controlled schools will be 
informed how many first preference applications have been 
received.  

13 December 2019 Voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and academies to 
provide LA with a list showing which category in their admissions 
policy each applicant falls into.  This list should also be in rank 
order, ranked from 1 onwards, beginning with the applicant with 
the highest priority for a place at the school through to the 
applicant with the lowest priority for a place.    If any school has 
difficulties with this deadline, an alternative one must be agreed.

16 December 2019 to
24 January 2020

The LA will liaise with voluntary aided and foundation schools, 
free schools and academies in order to finalise allocations.

03 January 2020 After this date, no late or changed applications to be considered, 
even if there are exceptional circumstances.

51



Page 14 of 19

10 February 2020 Other LAs will be notified of places in schools in Cumbria 
which can be offered to their residents.

14 to 21 February 2020 LA will finalise allocations.

21 February 2020 LA will confirm final allocations with all maintained schools 
and academies in Cumbria.

02 March 2020 LA will notify parents or carers resident in Cumbria of their 
allocation.
(Note: As 1 March 2020 falls on a Sunday, notification to 
parents or carers will be on the next working day – Monday 2 
March 2020)

16 March 2020 Parents or carers who don’t wish to take up the place offered 
because they have made alternative arrangements will be 
asked to respond by this date.   Where parents and carers 
have not responded by this date, the LA will assume 
acceptance of the place offered.

25 March 2020 LA will re-allocate any places which have become available.

52



Page 15 of 19

AAppppeennddiixx  33
CCOO--OORRDDIINNAATTEEDD  AADDMMIISSSSIIOONNSS  SSCCHHEEMMEE  ––  IINNFFAANNTT,,  PPRRIIMMAARRYY  AANNDD  JJUUNNIIOORR  SSCCHHOOOOLLSS  

AdmissionAdmission  AuthoritiesAuthorities  inin  thethe  AreaArea  ofof  CumbriaCumbria  toto  whichwhich  thethe  SchemeScheme  AppliesApplies

Subject to any school converting to foundation or academy status, the LA is the 
Admission Authority for the following community and voluntary controlled  infant and 
primary schools

All Saints’ CE Primary School Goodly Dale Community Primary School
Allithwaite School Gosforth CE School
Allonby Primary School Grange CE Primary School
Alston Primary School Grasslot Infant School
Arlecdon Primary School Great Orton School
Armathwaite School Greystoke School
Asby Endowed School Haverigg Primary School 
Ashfield Infant School Hawkshead, Esthwaite Primary School
Barrow Island Community Primary School Hensingham Primary School
Beckstone Primary School Heron Hill Primary School
Belle Vue Primary School High Hesket CE School
Bewcastle School Holm Cultram Abbey CE School
Blennerhasset School Holme Community School
Bolton Primary School Holme St Cuthbert School
Bookwell Primary School Houghton CE School
Bransty Primary School Inglewood Infant School
Bridekirk Dovenby CE Primary School Ireby CE School
Brisbane Park Infant School Irthington Village School
Brook Street Primary School Jericho School 
Brough Community Primary School Kells Infant School
Broughton in Furness CE School Kingmoor Infant School
Broughton Moor Primary School Kirkbampton CE School
Brunswick School Kirkbride Primary School
Burgh by Sands Primary School Kirkby Stephen Primary School
Burlington CE Primary and Nursery School Kirkby Thore School
Caldew Lea School Kirkoswald CE School
Cambridge Primary School Lamplugh CE School
Captain Shaw’s CE School Lanercost CE School
Cartmel CE Primary School Langwathby CE School
Chapel Street Infant s and Nursery School Lees Hill CE School
Clifton School Levens CE School
Coniston Primary School Lindal and Marton Primary School
Croftlands Infant and Nursery School Lindale CE School
Crosscanonby St John’s CE School Long Marton Community Primary School
Cummersdale School Low Furness CE Primary School
Cumwhinton School Lowca Community School
Dane Ghyll Community Primary School Maryport Infant School*
Derwent Vale Primary School and Nursery Milburn School
Distington Community School Millom Infant School
Ellenborough and Ewanrigg Infant School Milnthorpe Primary School
Ennerdale and Kinniside CE Primary School Montreal CE Primary School
Fellview Primary School Moor Row Community Primary School
Frizington Community Primary School Moresby Primary School

53



Page 16 of 19

Nenthead Primary School Skelton School
Netherton Infant School South Walney Infant and Nursery School 
Newbarns Primary School St Bees Village School
Newlaithes Infant School St Bridget’s CE School, Brigham
Newton Primary School St Bridget’s CE School, Parton
Newtown Community Primary School St George’s CE School
Norman Street Primary School St James’ CE Infant School, Whitehaven 
North Walney Primary School St Michael’s CE Primary School, Dalston
Old Hutton CE School St Michael’s Infant and Nursery School
Orgill Primary School Staveley CE School
Ormsgill Nursery and Primary School Stoneraise School
Pennine Way Primary School Storth CE School
Pennington CE School Temple Sowerby CE Primary School
Petteril Bank Primary School Thornhill Primary School 
Plumbland CE School Threlked CE Primary School
Plumpton School Thursby Primary School
Ramsden Infant School Thwaites School
Raughton Head CE School Upperby Primary School
Richmond Hill School Valley Primary School and Nursery 
Robert Ferguson Primary School Vicarage Park CE Primary School
Rockcliffe CE School Vickerstown School
Roose School Victoria Infant and Nursery School, Barrow
Seascale Primary School Victoria Infant School, Workington
Sedbergh Primary School Westfield Nursery and Primary School
Shankhill CE Primary School Wigton Infant School
Silloth Primary School Wreay CE Primary School
Sir John Barrow School

* Proposals to amalgamate Maryport Infant School and Maryport CE Junior School to form an all-
through primary school with a PAN of 45 with effect from September 2019 are currently being 
considered.

Subject to any school converting to foundation or academy status, the LA is the 
Admission Authority for the following community and voluntary controlled junior 
schools

Ashfield Junior School Monkwray School
Clack Combe Junior School Newlaithes Junior School
Croftlands Junior School North Lakes School
Ewanrigg Junior School Seaton St Paul’s CE Junior School
George Romney Junior School South Walney Junior School
Greengate Junior School St James’ CE Junior School, Whitehaven
Inglewood Junior School Thomlinson Junior School
Kingmoor Junior School Victoria Junior School, Workington
Maryport CE Junior School*

* Proposals to amalgamate Maryport Infant School and Maryport CE Junior School to form an all-
through primary school with a PAN of 45 with effect from September 2019 are currently being 
considered.

54



Page 17 of 19

The governing body or academy trust is the Admission Authority for the following 
voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and academies

Ambleside CE Primary School Holy Family Catholic Primary School
Appleby Primary School Ireleth St Peter’s CE School
Arnside National CE School Ivegill CE School
Askam Village School Langdale CE School
Bassenthwaite School Lazonby CE School
Beaconside CE Primary School Leven Valley CE School
Beckermet CE School Longtown Primary School
Beetham CE School Lorton School
Bishop Harvey Goodwin School, The Lowther Endowed Primary School
Blackford CE Primary School Morland Area CE School
Borrowdale CE Primary School Northside School
Bowness on Solway Primary School Orton CE School
Braithwaite CE [VA] Primary School Oughterside School
Brampton Primary School Our Lady & St Patrick’s Catholic Primary School, 

Maryport 
Broughton Primary School Our Lady of the Rosary Catholic Primary School
Burton Morewood CE Primary Academy Parkside GGI Academy
Calthwaite CE School Patterdale CE School
Castle Carrock School Penny Bridge CE School
Castle Park School Penruddock Primary School
Chetwynde School Rosley CE School
Church Walk CE Primary School Sacred Heart Catholic Primary School
Crosby on Eden CE School Scotby CE Primary School
Crosby Ravensworth CE School Seaton Academy
Crosscrake CE School Selside Endowed CE School
Crosthwaite CE School Shap Endowed CE School
Culgaith CE School St Bede’s Roman Catholic Primary School
Dalton St Mary’s CE Primary School St Bega’s CE School 
Dean Barwick School St Begh’s Catholic Junior School
Dean CE School St Bridget’s Catholic Primary School, Egremont
Dean Gibson Catholic Primary School St Catherine’s Catholic Primary School
Dearham Primary School St Columba’s Catholic Primary School
Dent CE Voluntary Aided Primary School St Cuthbert’s Catholic School and Nursery, 

Carlisle
Eaglesfield Paddle CE VA Primary School St Cuthbert’s Catholic Primary School, Wigton
Fairfield Primary School St Cuthbert’s Catholic Primary School, 

Windermere
Fir Ends Primary School St Gregory and St Patrick’s Catholic Infant 

School
Flimby School St Gregory’s Catholic Primary School
Flookburgh CE School St Herbert’s CE Primary School
Ghyllside Primary School St James’ Catholic Primary School, Millom
Gilsland CE School St James’ CE Junior School, Barrow
Grasmere CE School St Joseph’s Catholic Primary School, 

Cockermouth
Grayrigg CE School St Joseph’s Catholic Primary School, Frizington
Great Corby School & Nursery St Margaret Mary’s Catholic Primary School
Hallbankgate Village School St Mark’s CE School
Hayton CE Primary School St Martin & St Mary CE Primary School

55



Page 18 of 19

St Mary’s Catholic Primary School, Harrington Stainton CE School
St Mary’s Catholic Primary School, Ulverston Stanwix School
St Mary’s Catholic Primary School, Whitehaven Stramongate Primary School
St Mary’s CE Primary School, Kirkby Lonsdale Tebay Community Primary School
St Matthew’s CE School Victoria Academy, Barrow
St Michael’s CE School, Bothel Waberthwaite CE School
St Oswald’s CE Primary School Warcop CE School
St Patrick’s Catholic Primary School, Cleator 
Moor

Warwick Bridge School

St Patrick’s Catholic Primary School, 
Workington

Wiggonby CE School

St Patrick’s CE School Yanwath Primary School
St Pius X Catholic Primary School Yarlside Primary School
St Thomas’s CE School Yewdale School

56



Page 19 of 19

Appendix 4
CO-ORDINATEDCO-ORDINATED  ADMISSIONSADMISSIONS  SCHEMESCHEME  ––  SECONDARYSECONDARY  SCHOOLSSCHOOLS  

AdmissionAdmission  AuthoritiesAuthorities  inin  thethe  AreaArea  ofof  CumbriaCumbria  toto  whichwhich  thethe  SchemeScheme  AppliesApplies

Subject to any school converting to foundation or academy status, the LA is the 
Admission Authority for the following community and voluntary controlled schools:

Beacon Hill Community School The Nelson Thomlinson School
Dowdales School Netherhall School
John Ruskin School Solway Community School
The Lakes School Ulverston Victoria High School
Millom School

The governing body is the Admission Authority for the following foundation and 
voluntary aided schools and academies:

Appleby Grammar School Queen Elizabeth School
Caldew School Queen Katherine School, The 
Cartmel Priory CE School Samuel King’s School
Central Academy Settlebeck School
Chetwynde School St Benedict’s Catholic High School
Cockermouth School St Bernard’s Catholic High School
Dallam School St Joseph’s Catholic High School
Energy Coast UTC Trinity School
Furness Academy Ullswater Community College
Keswick School Walney school
Kirkbie Kendal School West Lakes Academy
Kirkby Stephen Grammar School The Whitehaven Academy
Morton Academy William Howard School
Newman Catholic School Workington Academy
Queen Elizabeth Grammar School

57



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C

Determining the ‘Relevant Area’ for Consultation on Proposed Admission 
Arrangements for Own Admission Authority Schools

All schools where the governing body or academy trust is the admission authority, ie 
voluntary aided, foundation, free schools and academies (including UTCs and Studio 
Schools), must consult the Local Authority (LA) and all schools (including community and 
voluntary controlled schools) within their ‘relevant area’ before determining their admission 
arrangements.  Some schools will also need to consult neighbouring LAs and schools in 
neighbouring authorities. 

Proposed Definition of Relevant Areas for Admission Authorities in Cumbria for the 
period 2020-21 to 2022-23

1. Primary Voluntary Aided, Foundation, Free Schools and Academies

(1) all primary schools within a 2 mile radius of the school.

If there are no primary schools within a 2 mile radius: 

(2) all primary schools with the catchment area of the school, all primary schools 
whose catchment areas adjoin the catchment area of the school and any other 
primary schools within those adjoining catchment areas; and  

(3) where appropriate, the neighbouring LA and any schools in the neighbouring LA 
within a 2 mile radius.

2. Secondary Voluntary Aided, Foundation, Free Schools and Academies (including UTCs 
and Studio Schools)  

(1) all secondary and primary schools within a 3 mile radius of the school.

If there are no secondary schools within a 3 mile radius:

(2) (i) all secondary schools whose catchment area adjoin the catchment area of 
the school;

(ii) all primary schools with the catchment area of the secondary school; and
(iii) all primary schools whose catchment areas adjoin the catchment area of the 

secondary school.

(3) where appropriate, the neighbouring LA and any primary and secondary schools in 
the neighbouring LA within a 5 mile radius.

 

59



This page is intentionally left blank



Cumbria County Council  

 

1

APPENDIX D

CUMBRIA CHILDREN’S SERVICES
NURSERY ADMISSIONS POLICY 2020/2021

Community and Voluntary Controlled Nursery Schools and Infant/Primary Schools 
providing Nursery Education

Where there are more applications than sessions available in a community or voluntary controlled 
nursery class, applications will be prioritised using the criteria below.  They will be applied in 
conjunction with explanatory notes 1 - 5 which form part of the policy.  

1. Children looked after, i.e. in public care, giving priority, if necessary, to the youngest 
child(ren) and children who were previously looked after - see note 1.

2. Children who were previously looked after outside of England – see note 1.

3. In relation to infant/primary schools providing nursery education, children living in the 
catchment area who have brothers or sisters in the school (or associated junior school) at 
the time of admission. See notes 2 and 3.

4. In relation to infant/primary schools providing nursery education, children living outside the 
catchment area who, at the time of their admission, have brothers or sisters in the school (or 
associated junior school) who a) have an Education, Health and Care Plan that names that 
school or b) were directed to that school by the LA in the absence of a place being available 
in the catchment area school due to oversubscription and the school was identified by the 
LA as the next nearest with a place available – see note 4.

5. In relation to infant/primary schools providing nursery education, other children living in the 
catchment area giving priority to those living closest to the school, measured in a straight 
line between the centre of the pupil’s home address and a common point on the school site 
as determined by the LA. - see note 5.

6. In relation to infant/primary schools providing nursery education children living outside the 
catchment area who have brothers or sisters in the school (or associated junior school) at 
the time of their admission - see notes 2 and 3.

7. Children living outside the catchment area, giving priority to those who live closest to the 
school, measured in a straight line - see note 5.

Applications will be prioritised on the above basis.  An exception will be made under the Authority's 
policy for the education of children with special educational needs where a child holds an 
Education, Health and Care Plan that names the school.

61



Cumbria County Council  

 

2

Explanatory Notes
[These notes are part of the policy]

Note 1
A child looked after is a child in public care, who is looked after by a local authority within the 
meaning of Section 22 of the Children Act 1989.  Children previously looked after are children 
who were looked after, but have ceased to be so because they were adopted or became subject 
to a Child Arrangements Order or Special Guardianship Order (Children Act 1989).
Advice issued by the Department for Education (DfE) in August 2018 states that a child previously 
looked after outside of England is one that was looked after, outside England, by a public 
authority, a religious organisation or another provider of care whose sole purpose is to benefit 
society.  

Note 2
In criteria 3 and 4, priority will be given to those children with the youngest siblings.  Brothers and 
sisters are those living at the same address and includes step and foster children.  Priority will 
only be given where it is known at the time of allocating places that a sibling will be attending the 
school [excluding a nursery class] at the time of admission.

Note 3
Where reference is made to associated junior schools this is to describe those situations where 
infant and junior schools share the same catchment area.

Note 4
If parents or carers believe they qualify for consideration under criterion 4, they should indicate 
this on their preference form in the place provided for this purpose.  

Note 5
Distance measurements will be undertaken using the Local Authority’s computerised 
Geographical Information System (GIS).  This measures a straight-line measure between the 
centre of the pupil’s home address and the main entrance to the school/nursery building as 
determined by the LA in conjunction with the Headteacher at the time the determination was 
made.

62



APPENDIX E

2020-2021 School Admission Arrangements

Introduction
Between 3 October and 13 November 2018 a consultation exercise was conducted 
seeking the views of stakeholders on the 2020/21 school admission arrangements 
for Community and Voluntary Controlled schools.  

The admission arrangements for Community and Voluntary Controlled schools 
include the Published Admission Number (PAN) for each school where the LA is the 
admissions authority and the oversubscription criteria which specifically include 
reference to catchment areas. 

The LA consulted with all groups as required by the School Admissions Code with 
information being circulated using the Schools Portal (to all Cumbrian schools) and 
by e-mail.  Schools were asked to share the information about the consultation with 
governors and with parents via any periodic communication such as a newsletter.  
Local Committees and Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Advisory Board were 
also invited to comment. The information included a link to the county council 
consultation hub as well as details of how responses could be submitted.  

Summary of Responses 
Responses could be submitted either by e-mail or in writing in the form a letter.  A 
total of 38 responses were received, 36 during the consultation period with 2 
received just after the consultation had closed.  Of these, 36 related to current 
catchment area boundaries (35 Millom School/West Lakes Academy and 1 Appleby 
Grammar School/Ullswater Community College).  The 2 remaining responses were 
in relation to one of the proposed PAN changes with the other being of a general 
nature.   All 38 responses were submitted by e-mail although some were in the form 
of an attached letter.  Those responding included parents, headteacher and Chairs 
of Governors, local elected Members, and a parish council.

78.9% (30) of those who responded were parents or grandparents, 7.8% (3) were 
county councillors, 10.5% (4) were schools/Chairs of Governors and 2.6% (1) was a 
parish councillor.  
94.7% (36) responses related to catchment area boundaries, 92.1% (35) of these 36 
responses concerned the catchment area boundaries of Millom School and West 
Lakes Academy. 

Additional comments are set out in the attached table.  

The responses to the formal consultation (3 October to 13 November 2018) may be 
considered.      

63



2020-21 School Admission Arrangements – Consultation Responses

Comments 
About 

General Comment Interest Other 
(Interest/school phase)

Area Date Letter e-mail

1 General In support of proposed changes to oversubscription 
criteria, especially the removal of faith based criteria.

Parent Primary and secondary Not known 09/10/2018 e-mail

2 PAN Supportive of proposal to reduce PAN at Brook Street 
Primary.  Consistently receiving September Reception 
intakes that are significantly lower that current PAN.  
Reduced PAN will enable better financial planning.    

School Headteacher, Brook Street Primary Carlisle 23/10/2018 e-mail

3 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

School Headteacher, St Bega’s CE Primary 
School 

Eskdale 09/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

4 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary and secondary Seascale 12/11/2018 e-mail

5 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary Seascale 12/11/2018 e-mail

6 Catchment 
Area

Request to consider area of dual catchment in relation 
to Millom School and West Lakes Academy

Parent Secondary – sixth form Seascale 13/11/2018 e-mail

7 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Local 
Member

County Councillor – Cleator Moor 
East and Frizington

12/11/2018 e-mail 

8 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary and secondary Seascale 13/11/2018 e-mail

9 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary Wasdale 13/11/2018 e-mail

10 Catchment 
Area

Necessity of providing an area of dual catchment for 
West lakes Academy and Millom School covering the 
areas of Gosforth, Seascale and St Begh’s. 

Parent Primary Seascale 12/11/2018 e-mail

11 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Secondary Gosforth 12/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

12 Catchment 
Area

Millom School should be the catchment school for the 
village; West Lakes not an option because pupils from 
Whitehaven are gaining places there at the expense of 
pupils living further away. 

Parent Primary Seascale 12/11/2018 e-mail

13 Catchment 
Area

Millom School should be the catchment school for 
Seascale. 

Parent Secondary Seascale 11/11/2018 e-mail

64



Comments 
About 

General Comment Interest Other 
(Interest/school phase)

Area Date Letter e-mail

14 Over- 
subscription  
Criteria
Faith Based 
Criteria

Catchment 
Area

Children of Staff at School – supportive of inclusion 
but should be ranked below criteria for children living 
within the catchment area.  
Removal of faith based criteria not supported, 
however, if it is retained it should be applied with a 
lower priority than that of residence within the 
catchment area.
The catchment area for Millom should be extended to 
include Gosforth regardless of whether this creates an 
overlap with West Lakes Academy.  

Parent Primary Gosforth 10/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

15 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary and secondary Seascale 12/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

16 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Secondary Holmrook 12/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

17 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary Holmrook 11/11/2018 e-mail

18 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary and secondary Holmrook 11/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

19 Catchment 
Area

Preferred option – change to West Lakes Academy 
admission policy.  Alternatively, Seascale to become 
part of Millom School’s catchment area. 

Parent Primary Seascale 11/11/2018 e-mail

20 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary Ponsonby 11/11/2018 e-mail

21 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Pre-school and primary Gosforth 13/11/2018 e-mail

22 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary Not known 12/11/2018 e-mail

23 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary and secondary Gosforth 12/11/2018 e-mail

24 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary and secondary Seascale 11/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

25 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary Seascale 12/11/2018 e-mail

26 Catchment 
Area 

That the catchment area for Millom School should be 
extended to include Gosforth and the surrounding 
areas.

Parish 
Council

Gosforth Parish Council Gosforth 12/11/2018 e-mail

65



Comments 
About 

General Comment Interest Other 
(Interest/school phase)

Area Date Letter e-mail

27 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary and secondary Seascale 12/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

28 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area for Whitehaven Academy and 
Millom School covering Seascale, Gosforth and 
Eskdale. 

Local 
Member

County Councillor - Gosforth 12/11/2018 e-mail

29 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary and Secondary Wasdale 12/11/2018 e-mail

30 Catchment 
Area

Preferred option would be for pupils with no 
alternative nearer school to be given priority over 
pupils living in villages north of West Lakes between 
Whitehaven and Egremont.
Alternatively, create an area of dual catchment that 
would enable those pupils that give Millom School as a 
2nd preference to have an entitlement to home to 
school transport.   

Parent Pre-school Seascale 12/11/2018 e-mail

31 Catchment 
Area

West Lakes Academy should be reviewed with a view 
to prioritising the needs of children in the south of the 
catchment area who have little choice of school over 
those children living in the north of the catchment 
area. 

Parent Primary Holmrook 13/11/2018 e-mail

32 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

School Chair of Governors, Gosforth CE 
Primary School

Gosforth 13/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

33 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

Parent Primary Gosforth 13/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

34 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale, Gosforth and Eskdale.

School Chair of Governors, Seascale 
Primary School

Seascale 13/11/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

35 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale and Gosforth.

Grand-
parent

Not known Not known 14/11/2018 e-mail

36 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale and Gosforth.

Parent Secondary Seascale 14/11/2018 e-mail

37 Catchment 
Area

Dual catchment area request, Millom/West Lakes 
covering Seascale and Gosforth.

Local 
Member 

County Councillor – Egremont 
North and St Bees  

13/11/2018 e-mail

38 Catchment 
Area

Request to consider catchment area boundaries 
between Appleby Grammar School and Ullswater 
Community College in the area of Temple Sowerby. 

Parent Primary and secondary Temple 
Sowerby

04/10/2018 Letter Rec’d by 
e-mail

66



CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 20 
December 2018 at 10.00 am at Conference Room A, 
Cumbria House, Carlisle

PRESENT:

Mr SF Young (Leader)
Mrs A Burns
Mrs PA Bell
Ms D Earl
Mr KA Little
Mr DE Southward
Mrs C Tibble
Mrs J Willis
Mrs S Sanderson

Mr N Cotton in attendance for Item 7a
Mr W Wearing in attendance for Item 8

Officers in attendance:

Chief Executive, Cumbria County Council, Executive Director - People 
(Deputy Chief Executive), Executive Director - Corporate, Customer and 
Community Services, Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer), Chief Fire 
Officer, Director of Public Health, Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer), 
Professional Lead - Democratic Services, Leadership Support Officer - 
Labour Group, Communications Manager, Senior Manager - Policy and 
Scrutiny, Assistant Director - Highways and Transport and Area Manager 
- South Lakeland

PART 1 ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE 
OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

64 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

An apology for absence was received from Mr P Thornton.

65 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest made on this occasion.

67

Agenda Item 5b



2

66 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, the press and public be not excluded during 
discussion of any items on the agenda today.  

67 MINUTES

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 
2018 be agreed and signed by the Chair.

68 STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND 
CABINET MEMBERS

The Leader made a statement about the strike action taking place today 
outside of the Evening News and Star offices in Carlisle.  He had visited 
the pickets outside the building to offer his support.  

The Leader then reported that today the Environment Agency and the 
National Centre for Atmospheric Science had now deployed a weather 
radar system which would help better protect Cumbria in the future.

Following the floods in 2015 it came to light that the agencies didn’t 
receive the detailed advance weather warnings that they needed to help 
protect the communities and businesses in effected areas.  

Investment in improved high resolution weather radar systems had been 
implemented and the data collected by the radar would help researchers 
better understand the type of extreme rainfall that sometimes affected 
Cumbria.

69 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There were no petitions, questions or statements made on this occasion.

70 REFERRAL FROM LOCAL COMMITTEES

(A) REFERRAL FROM SOUTH LAKELAND LOCAL COMMITTEE - 
WINDERMERE FERRY

The Chair of South Lakeland Local Committee presented a referral from 
South Lakeland Local Committee to Cabinet to request a review of the 
repair programme of Windermere Ferry following the fire incident in May 
of this year.  Cabinet to consider the re-introduction of the Windermere 
Ferry Advisory Committee.

68



3

At the South Lakeland Local Committee meeting of 19 November, the 
review report was presented by officers which outlined the process to 
repair and re-instate the operation of the ferry, to share the lessons that 
had been learnt from this incident and the measures which had 
subsequently been put in place.  

RESOLVED that, Cabinet is asked to consider the re-introduction of 
the Windermere Ferry Advisory Committee 

(B) RESPONSE TO REFERRAL FROM SOUTH LAKELAND LOCAL 
COMMITTEE - WINDERMERE FERRY

Cabinet considered a report from the Acting Executive Director – 
Economy and Infrastructure, which provided a response to the referral 
from South Lakeland Local Committee re. Windermere Ferry. 

Following the incident, the evacuation of the ferry required a multi-
agency response involving: the crew of the Windermere Ferry, Cumbria 
Fire and Rescue Service, Cumbria Constabulary, North West Ambulance 
Service, Windermere Lake Warden and Windermere Lake Cruises Ltd. 
The County Councils Health and Safety Adverse Event Investigation and 
the Police led Structured Debrief Report (Multi-agency debrief) both 
indicate that the evacuation of the Windermere Ferry was well managed 
with very positive feedback 

The referral from South Lakeland Local Committee also contained a 
request that Cabinet considered the re-introduction of the Windermere 
Ferry Advisory Committee.  

The Cabinet Member for Transport had, in response to a question in 
Council on 15 November, confirmed his commitment to the re-
establishment of a Windermere Ferry Group, suggesting that it should 
meet twice a year, at the beginning and end of the season.  

Cabinet was therefore recommended to support the establishment of an 
advisory group by the Local Committee.  The Local Committee would 
determine the terms of reference of the advisory Group, which would 
operate as a working group of the Local Committee and could include 
supporting engagement with local members and parishes.  The Local 
Committee would be responsible for any costs associated with the 
advisory group. 

RESOLVED that, 

(1) Cabinet note the information in relation to the repair programme 
of the Windermere Ferry and the associated lessons learned;

69



4

(2) Cabinet supports the introduction of a Windermere Ferry 
Advisory Group by the South Lakeland Local Committee.

71 SCRUTINY FEEDBACK ON STRATEGIC PLANNING

The Chair of Scrutiny Management Board presented a report which 
provided a summary of Scrutiny’s engagement in Strategic Planning for 
2019/20, and outlined key points and recommendations agreed by 
Scrutiny Management Board (SMB). 

Two focused sessions to consider the strategic policy and financial 
context for the Council had taken place, on 25 July 2018 and 3 December 
2018.  

In December members received an update on the financial context for 
the Council and the proposals for delivering a balanced budget for 
2019/20. 

The Chair took Cabinet through the key themes and points that members 
raised in relation to:

 Scrutiny Feedback – Overview 
 Approach to finding the budget savings of £23 million in 

2019/20
 How future savings can be made
 How Scrutiny can be engaged

Scrutiny Management Board welcomed the opportunity to provide 
feedback to Cabinet on the budget consultation.  

Scrutiny Management Board had agreed a number of specific 
recommendations for Cabinet drawn from the discussions which took 
place on the 3 December, Cabinet was asked:-

 That work to progress options for local government 
reorganisation for Cumbria is undertaken in a collaborative 
way, involving and providing feedback to all Members 
throughout the process.

 To provide assurance that opportunities will continue to be 
offered for pre-scrutiny and non-executive input with 
proposals as they emerge through the year, prior to decisions 
being taken.

 To continue to work together with partners to unlock funding 
opportunities that could benefit Cumbria.

RESOLVED that, Cabinet Members agree Scrutiny’s response and 
recommendations.

70



5

72 RESPONSE TO SCRUTINY FEEDBACK ON STRATEGIC 
PLANNING

Cabinet considered a report from the Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer and Community Services, which provided a Cabinet response 
to Scrutiny feedback on the 2019/20 Budget Consultation and Strategic 
Planning. 

In addition to feedback provided, Scrutiny Management Board also made 
3 recommendations to Cabinet in respect of work towards unitary 
governance in Cumbria, early engagement of Members in development of 
strategic planning proposals, and working with partners to secure funding 
for Cumbria. It was proposed that Cabinet accepts the 3 
recommendations. 

RESOLVED that, Cabinet agrees the proposed responses contained in 
this report to Scrutiny feedback on Strategic 
Planning.

73 APPOINTMENTS TO WORKING GROUPS AND 
REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES

Cabinet had before them a report from the Executive Director – 
Corporate, Customer and Community Services which asked members to 
consider appointments to Working Groups and outside bodies following 
the recent changes to membership and re-assignment of Cabinet 
portfolios.

It was important to make these changes to ensure that the Council 
engaged effectively in outside bodies and that membership of Cabinet 
Working Groups was appropriate. 

The Leader asked the Chief Legal Officer why Cabinet had not been asked 
to appoint to the LGA Assembly.  The Chief Legal Officer agreed to 
investigate.

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport asked why the 
Transport for the North Scrutiny Board had not been included.  The Chief 
Legal Officer confirmed this had previously been a County Council 
appointment, not Cabinet.

RESOLVED that, the proposed membership of Cabinet Working Groups 
and representation on Outside Bodies be agreed as follows:-

(1) Cumbria Local Safeguarding Adults Board – Mrs PA Bell to 
replace Mr P Thornton;

71



6

(2) Commissioning and Procurement Working Group – Mr P 
Thornton be appointed as Chair;

(3) County Council Joint Consultative Group – Mr P Thornton be 
appointed to fill the vacancy;

(4) Cumbria Housing Group - Mrs PA Bell to replace Mr P Thornton;

(5) Cumbria Learning Disability Partnership - – Mrs PA Bell to 
replace Mr P Thornton;

(6) LGA County Council Network – Mr P Thornton be appointed to 
fill the vacancy.

74 2018/19 REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 
REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

A report by the Director of Finance set out the Council’s financial position 
at 30 September 2018 Quarter 2 (Q2); covering the Revenue Budget, 
Capital Programme and Treasury Management.  Cabinet received this 
report each quarter and Directorate and Corporate Management Teams 
received detailed reports monthly.  This report linked to the Q2 Council 
Plan Delivery Plan Performance Report set out on today’s agenda. 

The financial context for the Council was extremely challenging. 2018/19 
represented the eighth financial year of significant funding reductions 
from central government, and the Budget for 2018/19 included 
£38.829m of new savings to be delivered.  Since 2011/12, the Council 
had agreed a total of c£250 million of savings in setting annual revenue 
budgets. 

At the end of Q2, against the Revised Budget of £380.766m, the forecast 
for the Revenue Budget 2018/19 at the year-end is a net pressure of 
£4.593m (Q1 £2.968m). This forecast assumes the delivery of the 
Budget as set out in this report, including and particularly, Promoting 
Independence within People Services, for which an update is provided in 
paras 4.6, 4.11 and 4.12.

The Leader took Cabinet through the key messages contained in the 
report, and highlighted the following:-

 The Directorate net pressure of £5.805m consisted of an 
overall pressure in People of £8.791m, Economy & 
Infrastructure of £0.362m and Corporate, Customer & 
Community Services Directorate of £0.047m.  These net 
pressures were partly offset by underspends in the Finance 
Directorate (£3.122m) and Fire & Rescue Services of 
(£0.273m)

72



7

 The areas of the Council’s activities subject to the greatest 
financial pressures were in People Services, and in particular, 
Children Looked After where the forecast overspend at Q2 
was £9.587m

 The opening balance on the General Fund as at 1 April was 
£10.472m. The Council received S31 Grants to compensate 
for Business Rates reliefs determined by central government. 
The final grant announcement for 2018/19 was higher than 
that assumed when the Budget was set by £1.433m.  As this 
grant was part of the Council’s core revenue funding the 
additional element of £1.433m had been transferred to 
General Reserves resulting in a revised General Fund position 
of £11.905m as at 1 April 2018

 The forecast General Fund Balance for the 31 March 2019 
having taken account of the Q2 forecast over budget outturn 
of £4.593m was £7.312m.  This was £2.688m below the 
minimum level of General Reserve Balances target set by 
Council in February 2018 was £10m

 The Council approved a capital programme for 2018/19 in 
February 2018 of £135.135m for Council delivered schemes 
and £2.000m for schemes where the Council is Accountable 
Body.  Cabinet received the Q1 Monitoring report on 27 
September which set out a Capital Programme of £142.181m.

 This report sought agreement from Cabinet to decrease the 
Capital Programme by (£0.413m); being additional 
contributions of £0.112m and scheme budget reductions of 
(£0.525m); and to recommend to Council a reduction in the 
Capital Programme by (£10.132m), being budget reductions 
of (£1.000m) and the net reprofiling of schemes by 
(£9.132m) following a review of expenditure by 31 March.  
This was a rolling programme and these changes result in a 
revised Capital Programme for 2018/19 of £131.636m, 
excluding the Accountable Bodies schemes.  The changes are 
summarised in Table 6 at paragraph 7.3.  This forecast 
excluded the additional highways grant announced by the 
Chancellor on 31 October in the Autumn Budget of £12.004m 
which has to be spent by 31 March 2019

The Leader moved an amendment to recommendation 2.1 (h) which 
was:-

h)  Recommend to Council

 the reduction of £1.000m in schemes as detailed in paragraph 
7.5

 the approval of £9.630m re-profiling of schemes from 
2018/19 to future years as detailed at paragraph 7.6

73



8

 the approval of £0.498m accelerated spend from the 2020/21 
to 2018/19 Capital Programme for the Carlisle Southern Link 
Road (CSLR) for scheme development between January and 
March 2019. This will allow scheme development to continue 
pending a funding decision on the HIF funding bid (for which 
a decision is anticipated from Government from December 
2018 onwards). If the funding bid is not successful, further 
scheme development for the CSLR would then be paused at 
this time until other funding sources could be identified to 
deliver the scheme. Should no funding be available costs 
incurred would be met from revenue resources.

Cabinet supported this amendment.

RESOLVED that, Cabinet

a) Note the Revenue Budget at the provisional outturn for 
monitoring purposes of £380.766m as a result of the transfers 
from the Inflation and Contingency budget and agreed transfers 
from reserves, as set out in Appendix 1 (2); 

b) Note the forecast Revenue Budget outturn of a net pressure of 
£4.593m, an increase of £1.625m from the £2.968m reported 
at Q1;

c) Note progress in delivering the new savings for 2018/19 of 
£38.829m; a total of £36.922m (95.1%) of these 2018/19 
savings are forecast to be delivered by 31st March 2019;

d) Note the forecast General Reserve balance at 31st March 2019 
of (£7.312m) before additional mitigations throughout the year 
as detailed in paragraph 6.2. This is below the minimum level of 
General Reserve Balances target set by Council in February 
2018 of £10m;  

e) Approve the following transfers to reserves; £0.222m to the 
Elections Reserve from the inflation budget as set out in 
paragraph 3.2;

f) Approve the addition of £0.112m of additional 
contributions/adjustments to schemes, as detailed in paragraph 
7.4, to be included within the capital programme funded from 
specific grants and contributions; 

g) Approve the reduction of £0.525m in schemes as detailed in 
paragraph 7.5; 

74



9

h) Recommend to Council:- 

 the reduction of £1.000m in schemes as detailed in 
paragraph 7.5

 the approval of £9.630m re-profiling of schemes from 
2018/19 to future years as detailed at paragraph 7.6

 the approval of £0.498m accelerated spend from the 
2020/21 to 2018/19 Capital Programme for the Carlisle 
Southern Link Road (CSLR) for scheme development 
between January and March 2019. This will allow scheme 
development to continue pending a funding decision on the 
HIF funding bid (for which a decision is anticipated from 
Government from December 2018 onwards). If the funding 
bid is not successful, further scheme development for the 
CSLR would then be paused at this time until other funding 
sources could be identified to deliver the scheme. Should 
no funding be available costs incurred would be met from 
revenue resources.

i) Note the further additional funding allocation for 2018/19 of 
£12.004m from DfT to repair roads (including potholes), bridges 
and local highways infrastructure as detailed in paragraph 7.8.

j) Note the forecast outturn for the Capital Programme 2018/19 of 
£131.591m against a current budget of £131.636m (excluding 
Accountable Bodies) resulting in a variance of (£0.045m) which 
is made up of (£0.045m) underspend, as set out in Table 7, 
paragraph 7.9.

k) Note Treasury Management activities during Q2 have operated 
within the treasury limits set out in the Council’s Treasury Policy 
Statement and Treasury Strategy Statement and the Prudential 
Indicators set by Council in February 2018.

75 CORPORATE PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT - 
QUARTER 2 2018-19

The Leader presented a report from the Director of Finance, which 
provided Cabinet with a progress update on corporate performance, 
incorporating progress on the Council Plan Delivery Plan 2018/19 for the 
three month period from 1 July 2018 to 30 September 2018. 

Cabinet noted that where performance was below target or baseline, 
action would be taken to improve performance and to bring it back on 
track. 

75



10

The recommendations were intended to ensure public accountability for 
corporate performance and that the Council could demonstrate a good 
level of public performance reporting, enable Cabinet to celebrate areas 
of Council services that were performing well and to consider appropriate 
action if performance was not at an acceptable level, or the pace of 
improvement was slower than expected.

The overall position by the end of Quarter 2 2018/19 was that 78 of the 
82 (95%) Council Plan Delivery Plan actions had delivered, met or were 
on  track to meet the planned milestone, or were at risk of missing the 
planned milestone with a recovery plan in place. These were therefore 
rated green or amber. For the same period, 4 actions (5%) had missed a 
key milestone, did not fully deliver as intended and had therefore been 
rated red.

The Cabinet Member for Environment asked Cabinet to note that the 
County Council had recently achieved the Better Health at Work Award, 
Gold level.  The council was assessed against 8 criteria which included 
the incorporation of health and wellbeing into strategies and workforce 
plan, participation in local, regional and national health campaigns, and 
how health topics were promoted in the wider community.  Members 
were delighted to hear this.

RESOLVED that, Cabinet note overall performance relating to delivery 
of the three Council Plan outcomes and 
implementation of new ways of working, focusing on 
progress against the actions and metrics identified 
in Council Plan Delivery Plan 2018/19 for the 2nd 
quarter ending 30 September 2018.

76 CUMBRIA LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP

The Leader presented a report from the Director of Finance (Section 151 
Officer) which informed Cabinet that the Government published its 
‘Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships’ report in July 2018.  This 
report introduced a number of changes for the management and 
operation of Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs).  The key changes were 
that LEPs were to:-

 become incorporated bodies, where they were not part of a 
combined authority;

 adopt Local Assurance Frameworks that were compliant with 
national guidance;

 have a single accountable body; and
 prepare Local Industrial Strategies for their area

76



11

As a result of this report, the LEP Board at its meeting on 28 September 
2018 approved a revised Local Assurance Framework and new 
governance structure.  Subsequent to this, the LEP Board agreed at its 
meeting on 23 November 2018 to the LEP becoming an incorporated 
body and to ask the County Council to be its single accountable body.   
This report sought approval to the changes being introduced and for the 
Council to act as the LEP’s single accountable body.

The role of accountable body for the LEP had been undertaken by the 
County Council since the LEPs inception, however, this had been 
considered on a programme by programme basis.  Government was now 
requiring LEPs ‘to identify a single accountable body within each area that 
was responsible for all Local Enterprise Partnership funding.’  
Government advised that LEPs would ‘continue to be individually 
accountable for the allocation of funding and the delivery and evaluation 
of projects, with Section 151 Officers maintaining accountability for the 
proper conduct of financial affairs’ within the LEP.

The LEP asked all local authorities within Cumbria if they wanted to 
undertake the role of the LEP’s single accountable body.  The County 
Council was the only organisation that responded to the LEP.  The Council 
offered to be the LEP’s accountable body on the basis that a number of 
conditions would be met.  This was considered by the LEP Board on 23 
November and the LEP agreed to ask the Council to be its accountable 
body.  A subsequent letter from the LEP CEO dated 3 December set out 
the following conditions: 

i. The County Council will hold the Vice-Chair (public sector) as 
the Accountable Body.

ii. A management fee of £150,000 to be paid to the County 
Council each year as partial recovery of the costs associated 
with the Accountable Body role (to be reviewed annually). 
This would be distinct and separate from the costs associated 
with the provision of data intelligence services and IT 
provision, assumed to be £45,000 and £15,000 respectively.

iii. The in-kind contribution from the Council is recognised as 
being in the order of £250,000.

iv. The County Council will release £336,000 of CIF revenue 
funding to provide the necessary reserves to allow CLEP to 
operate as a going concern at the point of incorporation and 
to provide for any extraordinary expenditure, for example 
staff redundancies.

v. Future interest received on Growth Deal and CIF will be 
released to the LEP.

vi. The parties would explore introducing a management fee on 
Growth Deal and other funding applications, which would be 
shared between the parties on an equitable basis.

77



12

vii. CLEP will operate Redhills [conference centre] on behalf of 
the County Council and in return will receive its 
accommodation at a peppercorn rent and retain any profits 
created from the operation in lieu of the Council providing any 
direct cash contribution to the LEP. 

viii. A revised Memorandum of Agreement would be negotiated 
and included within the Local Assurance Framework.

ix. An Accountable Body representative will attend the CLEP 
Board and Investment Panel in that capacity, alongside the 
official members of these bodies. 

x. The County Council will continue to host the LEP’s current 
secondees (4 posts) and will act as host employer for CLEP’s 
Head of Business and a Programme Officer to increase the 
potential of securing high quality candidates on the basis that 
the LEP reimburses the Council for their salary and associated 
employment costs; 

In fulfilling the role of accountable body on behalf of the LEP, a 
Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) between the Council and the LEP is 
required to provide clarity on roles and responsibilities.  

RESOLVED that, Cabinet 

(1) notes the Government’s ‘Strengthened Local Enterprise 
Partnerships’ report and that Cumbria LEP will become a 
company limited by guarantee, operating as a constituted body 
from 1 April 2019; 

(2) agrees to the Council being Cumbria LEP’s single accountable 
body and to manage all funding received from Government on 
behalf of the LEP in accordance with the Local Assurance 
Framework, subject to:

(i) the LEP agrees the Council’s representative on the LEP 
Board holding the position of Vice-Chair

(ii) The LEP agrees a Memorandum of Agreement being in 
place between the LEP and the Council in substantially 
the form which is set out at Appendix 1 of the report 

(iii)The LEP agrees the Council being invited to be a 
corporate member of the company, with the Council’s 
representative on the Board being the Leader of the 
Council or as agreed by Leader

(iv) The LEP agrees the Council top-slicing LEP revenue 
funding for partial recovery of the management costs 
associated with being the accountable body;

78



13

(3) agree to lease the Redhills office accommodation to the LEP on 
a peppercorn rent and the Council foregoes the income as part 
of its financial contribution to the LEP.  The authority to agree 
the terms of the lease (other than the rent) is to be delegated 
to the Executive Director of Economy and Infrastructure in 
consultation with the Leader, Deputy Leader and Portfolio 
Holder for Economic Development and Property.  The LEP will 
promote the economic well-being of the area, and the reduced 
rent will further enhance the viability of the LEP;

(4) note the preparation of the LEP’s Local Industrial Strategy and 
agrees that the Council supports this as Cumbria’s economic 
strategy;

(5) authorises the S151 Officer in consultation with the Leader, 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economic Development 
and Property to finalise the Memorandum of Agreement. 

77 INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (IRMP) 
CONSULTATION

The Cabinet Member for Customers, Transformation and Fire and Rescue 
presented a report which detailed proposals for an updated Integrated 
Risk Management Plan (IRMP).

The draft IRMP attached to this report ran for the period 2019 – 2023 
and reflected the latest information on risk and demand that the service 
had access to. The refreshed IRMP incorporated a Delivery Plan outlining 
what the Service aimed to address over the next 4 years in respect of its 
Prevention, Protection, Response and Organisational Development 
activities. 

Consultation would allow members of the public and other interested 
parties to contribute towards the production of a final IRMP, and 
publication of the draft IRMP and subsequent consultation gave the 
service an opportunity to reinforce its key prevention messages

RESOLVED that, Cabinet note the report and approve the draft IRMP 
for consultation.

78 LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION – EXPRESSION OF 
INTEREST

The Leader presented a report which outlined the submission of an 
expression of interest in working with the Government to explore options 
for reorganisation of local government to a unitary model in Cumbria. It 
provided information on the legislative and policy context, approaches 

79



14

taken by other areas in the country, and the outline case for change that 
emerged from work carried out with partners through the Cumbria 
Leadership Board earlier this year.

In this report, Cabinet Members were also asked to consider the views 
and comments expressed by members of the County Council at the 
meeting held on Thursday 15 November 2018, and the analysis of a 
number of unitary models that was carried out through Cumbria 
Leadership Board over the last few months attached as Appendix 1 to the 
report.

The Leader took members through the report, detailing the background 
and the debate held at Council about this.  The views and comments 
expressed in Council were broadly supportive of change and highlighted a 
number of issues for Cabinet Members’ consideration. One member asked 
for their disagreement with the proposal to be formally noted. The 
opportunity to debate this proposal prior to consideration by Cabinet was 
welcomed, and the work carried out to date with partners through the 
Cumbria Leadership Board was recognised.

The decision to submit an expression of interest at this time would 
demonstrate that the Council recognised the need for change in Cumbria 
to support the future sustainability of local authorities and vital public 
services.

The submission of an expression of interest provided an opportunity to 
understand Government’s views and intentions which could be used to 
inform future decision-making by the Council about further work and 
allocation of capacity and resources

RESOLVED that, Cabinet agrees to submit to Government an 
expression of interest in exploring options for local 
government reorganisation to a unitary model in 
Cumbria.

79 RESPONSE TO ALLERDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL LOCAL PLAN 
(PART 2) SITE ALLOCATIONS PRE-SUBMISSION DRAFT 
CONSULTATION

The Cabinet Member for Environment presented a report which sought 
Cabinet’s agreement to respond to the consultation on the Allerdale 
Borough Council Site Allocations Pre-Submission Draft Local Plan. When 
adopted, this Local Plan would identify key development sites in Allerdale 
up to 2029. 

80



15

At this stage in the plan preparation process representations needed to 
address whether or not the Draft Local Plan was in compliance with legal 
requirements and whether it was “sound”, i.e. positively prepared, 
justified, effective and consistent with national policy.  

Cumbria County Council had engaged with Allerdale Borough Council in 
the development of the plan on an ongoing basis and through the 
development process, the plan had undertaken a positive evolution and 
could be considered to be sound.  Notwithstanding this positive 
progression and broad support, a number of detailed points, intended to 
enhance the plan, had been raised within this response.

If agreed this response would help to ensure the Council’s interests and 
priorities were reflected within the Local Plan,  ensure the integration of 
Local Plan growth and infrastructure planning.  It would also ensure the 
deliverability of the Local Plan, and ensure the Local Plan maximised 
economic growth opportunities.

RESOLVED that, Cabinet approve the strategic response outlined in 
the report and agree that the technical response 
contained in Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 is 
submitted to Allerdale Borough Council.

80 SCHOOL FUNDING FORMULA 2019-20

Cabinet considered a report from the Executive Director – People, and 
presented by the Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning, which 
reminded members that in July 2018, the Schools Minister made an 
announcement on the school funding arrangements to come into force 
from April 2019.

Last year, following consultation with local schools and the Schools 
Forum, Cabinet agreed to adopt the National Funding Formula in 2018-19 
and 2019-20.   The announcement in July 2018 confirmed some changes 
to the National Funding Formula and the Department for Education had 
confirmed that Local authorities must consult with their local schools and 
Schools Forum on an annual basis in respect of changes to the school 
funding arrangements.  

As in 2018-19 local authorities continued to have flexibility to decide 
whether to adopt the National Funding Formula for schools (the Schools 
Block) or apply a locally determined formula for 2019-20.  Local 
authorities also continue to be allowed to move up to 0.5% of funding 
from the Schools Block into other blocks with the agreement of Schools 
Forum. Cabinet was statutorily responsible for deciding on a formula 
through which funding is allocated to schools.

81



16

Following a consultation with all Cumbrian schools affected by these 
proposals, Cumbria Schools Forum at its meeting on 12 November 2018, 
had recommended to Cabinet that the National Funding Formula was 
implemented from April 2019 for the 2019-20 financial year and that 
0.5% of funding was not transferred from the Schools Block into other 
blocks.  

Cabinet supported this recommendation, and it was therefore 
RESOLVED that Cabinet approve the recommendation of the Cumbria 
Schools Forum to allocate funding to schools using the National Funding 
Formula in 2019-20 with no transfer from the Schools Block into other 
blocks.

81 CONSULTATION ON THE PROPOSED EXPANSION OF 
THURSBY PRIMARY SCHOOL

Cabinet had before it a report from the Executive Director – People, 
which provided analysis on the formal consultation held between 8 
October and 16 November 2018 by the County Council, to allow 
members to decide whether or not to bring forward a statutory proposal 
to expand Thursby Primary School. 

The report explained the background to the proposed expansion and 
asked Members to decide which option to pursue.

Members noted that any decision to publish a statutory notice triggered 
the beginning of a formal ‘representation period’ during which interested 
parties could submit their views on the proposal. 

The recent housing development at Matty Lonning for 69 houses laid 
within the catchment area of Thursby Primary School. This number and 
mix of housing types would yield 17 primary aged children using the 
dwelling led model detailed in the county council’s Planning Obligations 
Policy.

Thursby Primary School had capacity for 105 children and had 104 
children on roll at the January 2018 pupil census.  Projections showed 
that the school was likely to remain full, or nearly full, for the foreseeable 
future before any additional housing was considered. 

A section 106 agreement with the developer provided £224k in funds and 
along with the £156k from council funding (Delegated Schools Grant and 
brought forward maintenance funds) sufficient monies to provide a single 
new classroom at the school were available.  Class size organisation 
meant that it was more practical to build a classroom for 30 rather than a 
space to accommodate only the 17 pupil yield from the development.

82



17

Cabinet noted that the extra classroom space would ensure that there 
were sufficient places for the anticipated additional children from the new 
estate as well as providing a small operational surplus of places, and that 
the building works would also establish a new main entrance, additional 
withdrawal space appropriate to the size of the school and would relocate 
the office to improve access and safeguarding.

RESOLVED that, Cabinet agree to publish the statutory notice 
proposing the expansion of Thursby Primary School.

82 2020-2021 SCHOOL ADMISSIONS ARRANGEMENTS

The Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning presented a report which 
set out the proposed admission arrangements for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled schools, for which the county council was the 
statutory admission authority.  The Local Authority (LA) was required to 
consult other admission authorities on any changes to the policy, 
including catchment areas and proposed reductions to published 
admission numbers (PANs).  The LA must also consult the governing 
bodies of Community and Voluntary Controlled schools where it proposed 
to increase or retain the existing Published Admission Number (PAN) for 
2020-21.  

On 27 September 2018, after considering the options set out in the 
published report and for the reasons set out in the report, Cabinet 
resolved that:

 the amended admissions policy for Community and Voluntary 
Controlled schools be approved to go out to consultation with 
the required groups as set out in the School Admissions Code 
2014, paragraph 1.44.  This included consultation on 
proposals to reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN) 
for Kirkbampton CE School and Brook Street School; and 
proposed changes to the oversubscription criteria in relation 
to children previously in care outside England, children of 
staff at a school and faith based criteria;

 the proposed co-ordinated scheme for 2020-21 for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled schools be approved for 
consultation;

 the proposed definition of relevant areas for admission 
authorities in Cumbria for the period 2020-21 to 2022-23 be 
circulated for consultation with relevant schools;

 consultation be undertaken on an increase to the PAN at 
Thursby Primary School, and on the retention of the existing 

83



18

PANs at all other Community and Voluntary Controlled 
schools

 the publication of statutory notices related to changes to age 
range at the schools set out in paragraph 52 of the report be 
approved.

The School Admissions Code 2014 came into force on 19 December 2014 
replacing the School Admissions Code 2012. 

The County Council retains the role of admissions authority for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled schools in the county, and must 
determine admission arrangements by 28 February 2019 for the 2020-21 
academic year.

The county council also retained responsibility for co-ordinating the main 
admissions round for all maintained schools and academies in the county.  
It was required to formulate a co-ordinated scheme setting out the 
various stages in the admissions process by 1 January 2019 for the 
2020-21 academic year.  

The co-ordinated scheme was last consulted on during the spring term 
2012.  That consultation was in respect of the co-ordinated scheme that 
was applied to admissions for the 2013-14 academic year.  Since 2013-
14 there had been no significant changes to the co-ordinated scheme and 
members had approved the updated scheme annually without 
consultation.

As set out in the School Admissions Code 2014, the LA must consult on 
co-ordinated scheme for 2020-21 during the autumn term 2018.  
Consultation on the co-ordinated scheme for 2020-21 took place for a 6 
week period between 3 October 2018 and 13 November 2018.  

The Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning then took members 
through the report in detail, highlighting:-

 The Consultation Process
 Children Previously Looked After outside England    
 Oversubscription Criteria – Children of Staff at a School
 Faith Based Oversubscription Criteria in Schools Designated 

with a Religious Character
 Relevant Area
 Nursery Admissions Policy 2019-20
 Changes of Age Range – Addition of Nursery Provision
 PAN Changes
 Other Consultation Responses
 Catchment Areas
 Children of UK Service Personnel

84



19

RESOLVED that, 

(1) Cabinet approve the admissions policy for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled schools at Appendix A including the 
reduction in the Published Admission Number (PAN) for 
Kirkbampton CE School and Brook Street School, and an 
increase in PAN at Thursby Primary School;

(2) Cabinet approve the co-ordinated admission scheme for 2020-
21 for Community and Voluntary Controlled schools, Appendix B 
of the report;

(3) Cabinet approve the definition of relevant areas for admission 
authorities in Cumbria for the period 2020-21 to 2022-23, 
Appendix C of the report;

(4) Cabinet approve the nursery admissions policy for 2020-21 for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled nursery schools and 
infant/primary schools providing nursery education, Appendix D 
of the report;

(5) Cabinet approve changes to age range at the schools listed in 
paragraph 60.

83 CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER STRATEGY AND CARE LEAVER 
OFFER

The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services presented a report which 
detailed the refresh of the Children Looked After Strategy, and included 
the Care Leaver Offer as an appendix. If agreed this refreshed strategy 
would replace the 2015-18 Children Looked After Strategy.

The strategy had had extensive engagement with children and young 
people. The Children in Care Councils fed in their views on the national 
Corporate Parenting principles and what they meant to them. This was 
used to develop the main content of the strategy. Children and young 
people had written the vision for the strategy, so the vision was their 
vision for what they want the Council and partners to achieve for their 
futures. They came up with the title, and used art, poetry and stories to 
set out what the strategy meant to them. This material had been 
included in the appendices.

The Cabinet Member then introduced 3 of the young care leavers that 
had been involved extensively in the production of the strategy and 
thanked them for their insight and level of engagement, which had 
proved to be invaluable.  The three young people explained how they had 
been involved in the strategy, and what if delivered, for all children 
looked after, the impact it would have.

85



20

The focus of the 2015-18 strategy was around how the Council could 
demonstrate sustainable improvement. This was a realistic reflection of 
the position at the time, but lacked ambition given the current position of 
the service. 

The refreshed strategy had been written with the aim of giving the 
members, led by the Corporate Parenting Board, a vision for how the 
service could get to Good and beyond to Outstanding.

The Cabinet Member informed members that the Care Leaver Offer was 
being developed alongside the refreshed strategy, and was published as 
an appendix to the strategy.  In the Care Leaver offer, care leavers up to 
the age of 25 would be able to see what services and support were 
available from the Council and partners. The offer had been published on 
the County Council website and was a living document. This meant it 
would be periodically reviewed and kept up to date to reflect changes in 
the offer.

RESOLVED that, Cabinet agree the refresh of the strategy.

The meeting ended at 12.25 pm

86



Cumbria County Council  

 

Serving the people of Cumbria
cumbria.gov.uk

Conservative Group Office
Cumbria House  117 Botchergate Carlisle  Cumbria  CA1 1RD
 07795169637 E: christopherpaul.turner@cumbria.gov.uk

Date: 3rd January 2019
Our reference:  CPT1/2019

Iolanda Puzio
Senior Manager Legal and Democratic Services
Cumbria County Council
Cumbria House
Carlisle
CA1 1RD

Dear Iolanda,

CALL IN RE: CABINET DECISION TO MAKE NO CHANGES TO CATCHMENT AREAS IN 
PARTICULAR THE CATCHMENT AREAS AFFECTING PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN THE 
GOSFORTH AND MILLOM WITHOUT WARDS.

DATE OF DECISION: 20th December 2018

DECISION TAKEN BY: CABINET

RESOLVED, that Cabinet;

1) Cabinet agreed that no changes be made to catchment areas

The above decision has been called in for the following reasons;

In respect of the decision that Cabinet agrees to apply existing County Council policies. 

We ask that full consideration is given to Cabinet’s refusal to redraw the catchment area 
boundaries, in order to provide a shared secondary school boundary area covering the existing 
Seascale, St Begas and Gosforth Primary Schools. This is based on the grounds that;

1) The assumption has been made that the parents of children from the above Primary 
Schools, are opting not to identify Whitehaven Academy as a preference due to the issues 
at the School. However, this is not the case as Whitehaven Academy offers minimum, if 
almost non-existent, engagement and transition activities with the aforementioned Primary 
Schools. This is therefore not a natural choice for those parents. This is no change from the 
call in of November last year

2) It is argued that the true extent of the costs involved with transporting children from those 
primary schools has not been fully explored and evidenced. A differentiation between 
transporting those and future cohorts of children, to both Whitehaven Academy and Millom 
School, needs to be considered to enable an informed decision to be taken.

87

Agenda Item 5c



Cumbria County Council  

 

Serving the people of Cumbria
cumbria.gov.uk

3) The cabinet has failed to adequately take in to account the submissions made in the 
consultation period, out of 38 responses 35 requested dual catchment area be altered. 

4) The decision has been made without obtaining accurate figures with regard to changes in 
transportation costs, therefore the decision taken is flawed.

We should be grateful if you could instigate the necessary call-in procedures and request the 
attendance of appropriate officers and members at such meeting as are necessary in order to 
resolve this matter.

Yours Sincerely,

Councillor Paul Turner-Lead Call in Member

Councillor Keith Hitchen 

Councillor Doug Wilson

 

88



The Call-in Meeting Format

Chair of
SMB

The Chair opens the meeting by outlining the call-in meeting procedure and ‘order of play’

Call-In
Members

The Lead Call in Member presents the reasons for the Call-in
The remaining two Call-in members  invited to contribute to the  Lead Member’s argument

Cabinet
Member

The Cabinet Member responds to the call-in arguments and offers  their viewpoint
Any additional appropriate speakers, including the Corporate Director, will be given the opportunity to explain any technical issues/provide
background to the decision

SMB

After all appropriate members/officers have spoken, Scrutiny Members may ask call-iners, the Cabinet member and officers questions of
clarification

Scrutiny Members may also ask the Legal Services/Democratic Services representatives for any clarification about procedures

Cabinet
Member

The Chair will firstly ask the Cabinet member to sum up their position

Call-In
Members

The Chair will then ask the lead Call-in Member to briefly sum up their position

SMB

The Board will then discuss the issues around the call-in generally without interjection by call-in in members, the Cabinet member and officers
(unless the Board asks for any further clarification)

SMB will vote on and agree their decision regarding what to do with the call-in

89

A
genda Item

 5e



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5a Cabinet Report - School Admissions 2020-21
	Cabinet Report School Admissions 2020-21 Appendix A
	Cabinet Report School Admissions Appendix B
	Cabinet School Admissions Report - Appendix C
	Cabinet Report School Admissions Appendix D
	Cabinet Report - School Admissions Appendix E ConsultationResponses

	5b Cabinet Minutes 20 December 2018
	5c Call -in letter from Mr P Turner
	5e Call in flowchart

